From Department of Medicine, Solna Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS: DISEASE PRESENTATION, CLINICAL COURSE AND POTENTIAL BIOMARKERS

Dimitrios Kalafatis



Stockholm 2022

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2022 © Dimitrios Kalafatis, 2022 ISBN 978-91-8016-635-5 Cover illustration by Dimitrios Kalafatis

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: disease presentation, clinical course and potential biomarkers

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

MSc Pharm. Dimitrios Kalafatis

The thesis will be defended in public at Bioclinicum J3:11 Birger & Margareta Blombäck, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset, Solna, June 17th 2022, 9 am.

Principal Supervisor: **Prof. Magnus Sköld** Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Solna and Center for Molecular Medicine, Respiratory Medicine Unit

Co-supervisors: **PhD Linda Elowsson** Lund University Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lung Biology

MD PhD Aase Hensvold

Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Solna and Center for Molecular Medicine, Division of Rheumatology

MD PhD Jesper Magnusson University of Gothenburg Department of Pulmonology, Institute of Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy Opponent: **Prof. Tomas Eagan** University of Bergen Department of Clinical Science

Examination Board: Assoc. Prof. Maria Planck *Coordinator* Lund University Department of Clinical Sciences

Prof. Inger Gjertsson

University of Gothenburg Department of Rheumatology and Inflammation Research

Assoc. Prof. Samy Abdel Halim Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology

For the patients living with IPF

To my beloved family

POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a detrimental, chronic lung disease of unknown cause with an average life expectancy of approximately 3-5 years after diagnosis if no treatment is initiated. IPF is characterized by an altered lung architecture as a result of accumulation of scar tissue. The last decade has been crucial in the management of IPF with refinements of diagnostic criteria and approval of the first antifibrotic treatments nintedanib and pirfenidone. These drugs slow the progression of the disease but neither of them can improve lung function or quality of life.

Despite these advances, many challenges and questions remain. Aside from the elusive underlying mechanisms, we do not know why some patients are worse off than others, and what impact comorbidities have. Thus, clinicians have no tools to predict the course of the disease and the long-term prognosis. In order to obtain real world data in broader patient populations which can be a complement to clinical trials, several patient registries have been initiated around the world. The Swedish IPF registry was launched in 2014 and collects clinical data from individuals diagnosed with IPF from more than 20 hospitals in Sweden. In addition to the registry, a biobank collecting biological material such as plasma, serum and blood from included patients was started in 2016, enabling linkage of clinical features and outcomes to the pathobiology of IPF.

This thesis is based on data and biological samples from the Swedish IPF registry in order to investigate various aspects of the disease. Studies across different populations have established that IPF is a disease of male predominance. In addition, the prognosis is worse in males. These differences are insufficiently characterized and may have implications on diagnosis, prognosis and treatment. In the first project we used registry data to cross-sectionally investigate potential gender differences. Results showed that female patients with IPF had a more preserved lung function than males while males had a increased burden of cardiovascular comorbidities.

In the second project we studied data accumulated in the registry during the years 2014-2020 with the aim to provide a comprehensive view of baseline characteristics and long-term disease behavior. We also took a first-time look at data related to treatment with antifibrotics. Furthermore, we wanted to explore if patients could be assigned to specific groups, *phenotypes*, according to their similarities and differences in clinical characteristics and mortality. With this comprehensive approach, we were able to reiterate and reinforce established information with regards to clinical characteristics, prognostic measures,

treatment effects and survival. Importantly, we presented new information on disease severity beyond the established ones and how certain clinical and demographic characteristics and comorbidities may discern patients with distinct outcomes which may require particular attention.

Together with colleagues from Lund University we set up a two-part study; one experimental, and one clinical. In the experimental part, we used a model to study secreted proteins from fibroblasts in response to the aberrant environment seen in the lung in patients with IPF and compared it to fibroblasts' response in healthy lung tissue. In the clinical part, we set out to verify the experimental results in serum from patients with IPF and healthy controls, and explored both established and new biomarkers of diagnostic and prognostic potential. Proteins involved in inflammation and the build-up of the stiff environment seen in IPF were elevated both in the experimental model and in serum from IPF, supporting the experimental model as a novel method of studying mechanisms in IPF. Further, we found several proteins in serum that were associated with clinical measures of disease severity and progression, contributing with further information in an area where there is an unmet need of biomarkers that can aid in the assessment of the disease.

The type of lung damage seen in IPF has also been observed in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and have raised questions on potential mechanistic similarities. In collaboration with a research group at Karolinska Institutet, we investigated the occurrence of specific proteins related to RA in serum from patients with IPF and compared it to RA-patients and healthy controls. We found that almost half of patients with IPF had presence of self-recognizing antibodies (autoantibodies) indicating that autoimmunity may play a role in a subset of patients with IPF.

By using registry data and results from analyses of biological samples from patients with IPF, this thesis has strived to contribute with further knowledge regarding the patient population, disease behavior and biological mechanisms that are of importance in the development and course of the disease. We were able to provide information that demonstrates the complexity and heterogeneity observed in the clinic and increased our knowledge of disease mechanisms. Taken together, our results may contribute to improved diagnostic and prognostic procedures, aid in the clinical management of patients with IPF but also lay ground for further research on this patient cohort.

ABSTRACT

The interest and research within the area of the fatal lung disease idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) has increased exponentially over the past decades. This has resulted in important insights into the nature and pathogenesis of the disease, which ultimately constitute the knowledge base upon which diagnostic, management, treatment decisions and guidelines are shaped. With a prognosis worse than many cancers and a complete absence of curative treatments apart from lung transplantation, the introduction of the first approved treatments, although not curative but disease modifying, has been a major leap forward for patients and the research community.

Despite the increasing interest, many questions still remain unanswered. Observational studies based on registry data can provide important complementary information to data generated in clinical trials about the patient population, disease behavior and treatment. Combining clinical data with biological samples such as serum and lung tissue from patients with IPF, enables studies where associations between biological processes and the clinical behavior can be explored.

This thesis attempts to address open questions in IPF by using data from patients enrolled in the Swedish IPF registry and samples from its biobank. The studies can be divided in two parts: In the first part, we have explored potential gender differences. Further, we have taken a comprehensive look into the patient population and explored patient characteristics, disease severity, evaluated antifibrotic treatment and discerned potential disease phenotypes with distinct disease trajectories. The second part comprises studies where we have leveraged register data with results generated from analyzes of serum samples. In these studies, we have taken different approaches in order to profile the repertoire of autoantibodies and proteins present. We demonstrate, both in an *in vitro* cell culture model and in patient serum, how proteins related to remodeling, inflammation and cell recruitment are upregulated in IPF and we describe their associations to disease severity and progression. Investigating the presence of antibodies related to rheumatoid arthritis in IPF revealed how autoimmune mechanisms are active and might play a role in a subgroup of IPF patients. Taken together, these discoveries contribute to the field by expanding established observations while also generating results and hypotheses that warrants further studies to refine and improve our understanding of IPF.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. **Kalafatis D**, Gao J, Pesonen I, Carlson L, Sköld M, Ferrara G. *Gender differences at presentation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in Sweden*. BMC Pulmonary Medicine 2019, 19, 222
- II. Gao J, Kalafatis D, Carlson L, Pesonen I, Li CX, Wheelock Å, Magnusson JM, Sköld M, Baseline characteristics and survival of patients of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a longitudinal analysis of the Swedish IPF registry. Respiratory Research 2021, 22:40
- III. Kalafatis D*, Löfdahl A*, Näsman P, Dellgren G, Wheelock ÅM, Elowsson Rendin L, Sköld M †, Westergren-Thorsson G †. Distal Lung Microenvironment Triggers Release of Mediators Recognized as Potential Systemic Biomarkers for Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2021, 22, 13421
- IV. Kalafatis D, Joshua V, Hansson M, Mathsson-Alm L, Hensvold A, Sköld M. Rheumatoid Arthritis Related Antibodies in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Manuscript

- * These authors share first authorship
- [†] These authors share senior authorship

SCIENTIFIC PAPERS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS

- I. Pesonen I, Gao J, Kalafatis D, Carlson L, Sköld M, Ferrara G. Six-minute walking test outweighs other predictors of mortality in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. A real-life study from the Swedish IPF registry. Respiratory Medicine:X 2020, 2, 100017
- II. Durheim MT, Bendstrup E, Carlson L, Sutinen EM, Hyldgaard C, Kalafatis
 D, Myllärniemi M, Sköld C.M, Sjåheim T. Outcomes of patients with advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis treated with nintedanib or pirfenidone in a real-world multicentre cohort. Respirology 2021,26:982–988

CONTENTS

1	Intro	oduction	1			
2	Background					
	2.1	2.1 The respiratory system – structure and function				
	2.2	IPF pathogenesis	4			
		2.2.1 Genetic susceptibility to IPF	4			
		2.2.2 Influence of the local microenvironment and immune system	5			
	2.3	Diagnosing IPF	5			
	2.4	eatment of IPF				
	2.5	Autoimmunity in IPF	7			
		2.5.1 Citrullination and other posttranslational modifications	8			
	2.6	Biomarkers in IPF	9			
3	Rese	earch aims	h aims			
4	Mate	Materials and methods				
	4.1	Ethical approvals and considerations				
	4.2	Study subjects, study design and analytical methods	13			
		4.2.1 The Swedish IPF registry	13			
		4.2.2 Statistical analyses	16			
5	Results and discussion					
	5.1	I. Gender differences at presentation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in				
		Sweden	18			
	5.2	II. Baseline characteristics and survival of patients of idiopathic				
		pulmonary fibrosis: a longitudinal analysis of the Swedish IPF registry	20			
	5.3	III. Distal Lung Microenvironment Triggers Release of Mediators				
		Recognized as Potential Systemic Biomarkers for Idiopathic Pulmonary				
		Fibrosis	26			
	5.4	IV. Rheumatoid Arthritis Related Antibodies in Idiopathic Pulmonary				
		Fibrosis	32			
6	Cone	Conclusions				
7	Poin	Points of perspective				
8	Ackı	Acknowledgements				
9	References					

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AE	Acute exacerbation
ACPA	Anti-citrullinated protein antibody
Anti-CCP	Anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
СРІ	Composite physiological index
DLCO%	Diffusing capacity of carbon monoxide, % predicted
ECM	Extracellular matrix
FDR	False discovery rate
FEV ₁ %	Forced expiratory volume during 1 second, % predicted
FVC%	Forced vital capacity, % predicted
GAP	Gender-Age-Physiology
HC	Healthy control
HRCT	High resolution computed tomography
IIP	Idiopathic interstitial pneumonia
IQR	Interquartile range
IL	Interleukin
ILD	Interstitial lung disease
IPF	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
KBILD	King's brief interstitial lung disease questionnaire
NPX	Normalized protein expression
PEA	Proximity extension assay
QoL	Quality of life
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
TLC%	Total lung capacity, % predicted
UIP	Usual interstitial pneumonia
6MWT	6-minute walk test

1 INTRODUCTION

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is the most common form of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias (IIP), a subgroup of disorders belonging to a heterogenous and large group of lung diseases termed interstitial lung diseases (ILD) [1]. IPF is by definition, a fatal chronic progressive fibrosing ILD of unknown etiology, characterized anatomically by scarring of the lung parenchyma due to an excessive deposition of extracellular matrix components such as collagen. Patients with IPF usually present with exertional dyspnea, chronic dry cough and a deteriorated lung function. Over time, the progressive impairment of lung function results in restricted ventilation, hypoxemia, decreased quality of life, respiratory failure and death, usually within 3-5 years from diagnosis [2]. Epidemiological studies have identified several environmental and occupational risk factors that may increase the risk of developing IPF. These include smoking, metal or wooden dust, pollution, gastric aspiration and infections [3]. In addition, approximately 10-20% of patients experience acute exacerbations, i.e. episodes of acute, clinically significant respiratory deterioration of unknown cause. Exacerbations may result in death in patients within months after symptom onset [4]. Despite its incompletely understood etiology and pathogenesis, two antifibrotic therapies, pirfenidone and nintedanib, have proven to be effective in slowing the disease progression and are now approved [5, 6].

Precise epidemiological estimates of the prevalence and incidence globally have been difficult to compare due to differences in methodologies and disease classifications. The estimated incidence in Europe and North America, ranges between 2.8-19 cases/100 000 people per year [7, 8]. A recent study investigating the incidence and prevalence in Sweden between the years 2001- 2015, reported an increasing prevalence from 15.4 to 68.0 /100 000 and a stable incidence of 10.4-15.4/100 000 per year [9]. There is evidence to suggest that the incidence of IPF is increasing [7] and with life expectancy increasing worldwide, the impact of IPF is expected to rise with increased demand on economic and healthcare resources [10].

In spite of the introduction of new treatments, IPF is still considered an incurable disease requiring a complex and comprehensive approach. The disease mainly affects elderly men with a history of smoking and a significant burden of comorbidities which have been reported in up to 89% of IPF patients [11]. Studies further demonstrate comorbidities' increased prevalence compared to matched controls and the general population [12, 13] as well as their negative influence on mortality and quality of life [13–15]. This means that optimal management includes not only identification and treatment of comorbidities, but also non-pharmacological interventions such as pulmonary rehabilitation, supplemental oxygen, lung transplantation and palliative care [16]. IPF is a male predominant disease with worse prognosis in males [17, 18], which raises questions on sex-dependent differences in biology, disease severity and clinical presentation.

Furthermore, as IPF is a heterogenous disease with significant variability in disease course [19], clinicians are faced with great challenges in making accurate predictions of future disease behavior with the currently available clinical measures. Biomarkers that could improve diagnostic accuracy, treatment allocation and predict future disease behavior would constitute a big leap forward for both patients and clinicians.

Patient registries enables collection of longitudinal data where demographics, clinical characteristics and disease severity can be studied. These data are complementary to clinical trials and offer an opportunity to validate findings from other cohorts and discover new aspects of the disease. When a biobank is included within the framework of a registry it extends the possibilities by allowing linkage of pathobiological data to clinical information.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 THE RESPIRATORY SYSTEM – STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

The lung can do many things. However, its main function is to allow oxygen to enter the circulation and remove carbon dioxide. To reach the gas exchange area of the lung, air is transported through the airways which is composed of branched tubes that become more and more narrow the deeper we reach into the lung [20]. Thus, air is transported through the nasal cavity to the trachea which divides into the left and right main bronchi, followed by the terminal bronchioles which divide into respiratory bronchioles and finally the alveolar ducts.

The exchange between blood and air occurs in these most distal parts of the lung by a process termed passive diffusion, which means that gases move across areas of high to low pressure without requiring energy [20]. The part of the lung responsible for this exchange, the blood-gas barrier is located in small air sacs called alveoli. This area works tremendously well with its exceptional thinness, covering a surface area of approximately 50-100 m². The human lung contains approximately 500 million alveoli, all surrounded by pulmonary capillaries that facilitate the transportation of oxygenated and deoxygenated blood.

A basement membrane is lining the airways, alveoli and capillaries where epithelial and endothelial cells are attached [21–23]. The basement membrane is made of a thin sheet of extracellular matrix (ECM) which is a complex network made up of collagens, glycoproteins, proteoglycans and different proteins which depending on their configuration, create specific microenvironments for cells. Having an important role as provider of structural support, the basement membrane also functions as a binding site for cytokines and growth factors with the ability of modulating cellular activity.

The respiratory epithelium forms a physical barrier and constitute the first line of defense against pathogens. Lining the trachea, bronchi and bronchioles are multiple cell types, dominated by ciliated cells followed by the secretory goblet and club cells [24]. Together they cooperate in response to environmental insults and pathogens by synthesizing and secreting antimicrobial proteins and mucins into the airway lumen, facilitating the mucociliary clearance of pathogens. Beneath the epithelial layer are basal cells which serve as progenitors to both ciliated and secretory cells and have a crucial role in regenerating the epithelium.

Meanwhile, only two cell types line the alveoli, the alveolar epithelial type 1 and type 2 cells. Alveolar epithelial type 1 cells cover the majority of the alveolar surface, localized in close proximity to the pulmonary capillaries, and constitutes the area for gas exchange. Alveolar epithelial type 2 cells produce lipid rich surfactant that reduces surface tension and prevents collapse of the lung, while also having an important role in homeostasis as progenitor cells to the type 1 cells [25]. Between the alveoli and the capillaries lies the interstitium, consisting of ECM. This specific space is the location of the deposition of ECM proteins resulting in the remodeled, thickened interstitium and impaired gas diffusion observed in IPF.

2.2 IPF PATHOGENESIS

For a long time, the pathophysiological concept in IPF was that of chronic inflammation being the precursor to the progressive fibrotic remodeling of lung tissue. Over the last decade and after failed clinical trials of anti- inflammatory and immunosuppressive agents [26–28], this view has shifted. In the current paradigm, persistent and recurrent microinjuries (caused by e.g. smoking, gastroesophageal reflux, infections) to the alveolar epithelium in genetically susceptible individuals causes increases in cell death, abnormal epithelial repair and dysregulated crosstalk between epithelium and fibroblasts promoting persisting activation of mesenchymal cells and ECM deposition [29]. The dysfunctional alveolar epithelium is a key factor in the initiation of disease with the type 2 alveolar epithelial cell having a central role due to its regenerative ability of the alveolar epithelium. Activation of cells within the alveoli and the epithelium leads to release of a plethora of mediators that stimulate the migration, proliferation and differentiation of lung fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, a proliferative, contractile and secretory cell type regarded as the main effector and the major source of collagen and ECM components.

2.2.1 Genetic susceptibility to IPF

Early reports from genetic studies in patients with pulmonary fibrosis in other diseases such as familial pulmonary fibrosis [30, 31] and a subset of patients with dyskeratosis congenita (a disease of premature aging) who have developed UIP [32], led to important advances in the understanding of genetic susceptibilities in the development of pulmonary fibrosis. A dominant underlying cause of IPF has not been identified yet, but several genetic factors have been established. The most prominent one is a single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene coding for the secreted mucin MUC5B, important in the mucociliary clearance of pathogens [33]. Considered the strongest risk factor for the development of IPF, overexpression of MUC5B is found in bronchoalveolar epithelium and while its role in the pathogenesis of IPF is still unclear, it has been hypothesized that it either enhances injuries due to reduced clearance or inhibits repair mechanisms arising as a consequence of the damaged epithelium in the distal parts of the lung [33, 34]. Paradoxically, although carriers of the allele have an increased risk of developing IPF, patients with the allelic variant have a later onset of disease and decreased mortality [35]. Of interest, the mutation has also been observed in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) that have developed RA-ILD with a HRCT-determined UIP-pattern [36]. This finding provides evidence for shared genetic background and raises the question of shared pathogenic mechanisms.

Other genetic variants found in IPF and other ILD include mutations affecting telomere maintenance (*TERT, TERC, RTEL, DKC1, PARN*) [37–39], leading to accelerated aging and activation of cell senescence mechanisms; mutations affecting surfactant proteins' composition and metabolism (*SFTPC, SFTPA2, ABCA3*), leading to among others endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) stress and activation of the unfolded protein response and apoptosis of alveolar epithelial type 2 cells [31, 40–44]; mutations related to innate immunity (*TOLLIP*) and age and smoking caused defects in proteostasis (i.e. processes handling protein folding, unfolding, degradation) resulting in ER-stress, mitochondrial dysfunction (*PINK1, DIO2*) and aberrant autophagy and mitophagy in alveolar epithelial type 2 cells [45–47].

2.2.2 Influence of the local microenvironment and immune system

While the dysfunctional alveolar epithelium is proposed to be key in the initiation of disease, factors that determine the persistent and progressive fibrotic deposition remain poorly delineated, although studies of the local microenvironment, the immune system and cell intrinsic factors have provided important clues. Previously, it was thought that the ECM only served as structural support of end-stage fibrosis. Now, there is evidence that deposition of collagens and other components into the ECM, with subsequent changes in the mechanical characteristics, act as powerful regulators of cell behavior and amplifiers of profibrotic feedback loops [48, 49]. Understanding these mechanosignalling pathways and how they influence the migration and activation of fibroblasts might provide us with new treatment targets.

Despite its questioned role in disease initiation, studies on inflammation in IPF has evolved the role from causal to disease modulating that either promote or suppress fibrogenesis [50]. For example, macrophages and macrophage-driven pathways is one of the most studied immunopathogenic cell types with reports of fibrosis-stimulating properties since several decades [51]. As the most abundant immune cell in the lung, macrophages play important roles in the remodeling processes seen in pulmonary fibrosis [52–54]. Similar to the dysfunctional epithelial cells, macrophages release profibrotic mediators such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) which have direct effects on fibroblasts by inducing fibrocyte and fibroblast migration, proliferation and their differentiation into myofibroblasts.

T- and B-lymphocytes are increased in IPF lung tissue and BAL-fluid compared to healthy individuals [55–57]. Overexpression of genes related to B-cells have been demonstrated in lungs from IPF patients as well as aggregates of B-cells close to fibroproliferative lesions [57–59]. Accumulating B-cells in diseased tissue areas are signs of ongoing immune activity and exert pathogenic effects [60]. The breakdown of immune tolerance within the adaptive immune system, termed autoimmunity, is characterized by the secretion of antibodies by B-cells ("autoantibodies") against self-antigens. Although IPF patients by definition do not fulfill criteria of autoimmune diseases, immunoglobulins towards self-antigens can be found in a substantial proportion of patients and target mostly epithelial antigens [61–65]. Altogether, this proposes humoral autoimmunity against autoantigens' activity and role in promoting inflammatory mechanisms and aberrant repair mechanisms in IPF.

2.3 DIAGNOSING IPF

An official statement on the approach to IPF diagnosis was first described in international guidelines in 2002 [66]. Since then, guidelines have been updated in 2013 [1] and 2018 [2]. A couple of weeks ago, an updated version was published which included progressive pulmonary fibrosis [67]. The guidelines provide precise criteria on diagnosis based on clinical, radiological and histopathological features. In addition, the guidelines established the multidisciplinary discussions as the gold standard for deciding on an IPF diagnosis, i.e. an active discussion of accumulated clinical information among experienced pulmonologists, pathologists and radiologists.

Establishing a diagnosis of IPF requires the exclusion of known causes of interstitial lung disease (ILD) such as environmental exposures, medications and systemic inflammatory disorders. Also, an usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP) pattern on high resolution computed

tomography (HRCT) or surgical lung biopsy is required[2]. HRCT play an essential role in the evaluation of patients with ILD, and can be diagnostic in the appropriate clinical context. Typical HRCT-features of UIP are basal, subpleural distribution of honeycombing (i.e. clustered cystic air spaces), with or without traction bronchiectasis (i.e dilated bronchi due to retractive forces caused by fibrosis of the lung parenchyma) and bilateral reticular patterns (i.e. thickening of inter-and intralobular septa)[2].

Surgical procedures such as lung biopsies are warranted when the combined clinical and imaging data is discordant of a diagnosis of IPF [2]. However, such invasive procedures are not indicated in older patients with high burden of comorbidities or patients presenting with advanced disease due to increased morbidity and mortality risks. Complications of surgical lung biopsies include pneumonia, pneumothorax, infections and acute exacerbations [68, 69]. Therefore, the benefit of the additional information gained from surgery must be weighed against the expected risks. In selected cases, transbronchial cryobiopsy may be an alternative [67]. Key pathological features of UIP include non-uniform distribution of subpleural and/or paraseptal fibrosis with intervening areas of normal lung parenchyma and presence of fibroblast foci (i.e. small clusters of active fibroblasts and myofibroblasts) adjacent to areas of dense fibrosis [2].

Spirometry play an important part both in diagnosis and the follow up of IPF. The accumulation of excessive collagen in the lung leads to increased stiffness, alterations of the mechanical properties of the lung and restrictive lung function [70]. Patients with IPF usually show a restrictive pattern, recognized by a low total lung capacity (TLC), forced vital capacity (FVC) and diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO). However, lung volumes can be normal in IPF. In contrast, DLCO is usually affected in early stages of disease. Emphysema may also be present since smoking is a common risk factor for both emphysema and fibrosis. In these cases, which have a broad reported prevalence ranging from 8-51% of patients [71, 72], lung volumes are often normal or slightly decreased, while DLCO is usually severely affected.

2.4 TREATMENT OF IPF

The introduction of the antifibrotic therapies nintedanib and pirfenidone, meant a paradigm shift in the pharmacological treatment of IPF since they were the first drugs with proven evidence in slowing down lung function decline. Studies *in vitro* have shown that nintedanib have inhibitory effects on essential processes of fibrosis such as recruitment, proliferation and differentiation of fibrocytes and fibroblasts and extracellular matrix deposition, by inhibiting tyrosine kinase mediated signaling [73]. Pirfenidone's mode of action is less well defined as its specific target remains unknown, but studies in vitro suggest inhibition of profibrotic mechanisms (e.g. TGF- β signaling) in fibroblasts and fibrocytes [74, 75]. Both treatments have demonstrated a reduced decline in lung function measured by FVC by approximately 50% over a 52 week period in clinical trials [5, 6] and sustained effects across different values of FVC and in different subgroups of age, gender, race and concomitant medication [76–80]. Although clinical trials of these treatments have not been powered to show effects on acute exacerbations and mortality, increasing studies are emerging showing that antifibrotic treatments reduce the risk of acute declines in lung function [81, 82] and mortality [83–87].

Antifibrotic treatments are associated with a number of adverse events [88–90]. Nintedanib's most common side-effect is diarrhea, reported in 62% of treated patients in the INPULSIS trials [6] leading to permanent treatment discontinuation in approximately 4% of nintedanib treated patients. Pirfenidone is more associated with nausea, decreased appetite and skin-related events (rashes, photosensitivity reactions) [88, 90]. Management of side-effects is crucial to help patients stay on treatment. Dose adjustments (interruption, reductions of dose), symptomatic relief of e.g. gastrointestinal events through loperamide and hydration, minimization of sun exposure and use of high-factor sun block, are recommended to manage side-effects [91, 92].

The increasing knowledge of macrophages and their progenitor cell, monocytes, have resulted in molecules, currently in clinical trials, directly targeting these cells. Pentraxin 2, or serum amyloid P (SAP), is an acute phase reactant protein produced by hepatocytes involved in inflammation and innate immunity [93]. SAP inhibits neutrophil recruitment and monocyte differentiation into profibrotic macrophages and fibrocytes, i.e. the circulating progenitor cells of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, capable of producing ECM and differentiating into myofibroblasts [94, 95]. Compared with controls, patients with pulmonary fibrosis, renal fibrosis, scleroderma and RA have demonstrated lower levels of SAP [93]. In patients with IPF, SAP levels are lower than in controls and positively correlated with FVC [53]. In a phase 2 trial of recombinant human SAP in IPF patients [96], SAP showed promising results by improvements in lung function, which has resulted in initiation of phase 3 trials. Inhibition of the matricellular protein connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) in patients with IPF have shown promising results in a clinical phase 2 trial [97] by demonstrating reduction in lung function decline. CTGF is secreted by various cell types including fibroblasts and myofibroblasts and interacts with important regulators of fibrosis such as TGF- β [98]. By binding to various cell surface receptors, CTGF can regulate cell signaling, cell-matrix interaction and cell adhesion. Building on the encouraging data from the phase 2 trial, the antibody inhibiting CTGF is currently tested in phase 3 trials.

Non-pharmacological interventions such as pulmonary rehabilitation, lung transplantation and supplemental oxygen, are important in the management of IPF-patients. The purpose with these interventions is to help IPF-patients live as normal as possible. Lung transplantation is the only intervention with survival benefits [99]. Long term oxygen treatment is recommended for patients with clinically relevant hypoxemia at rest using same indications as in COPD. Evidence for ambulatory oxygen treatment in fibrotic lung disease are scarce. Pulmonary rehabilitation, i.e. structured exercise programs designed for patients with IPF, has been shown to increase exercise capacity, quality of life, walking distance and reduce dyspnea in patients with IPF and is strongly recommended. [100–102].

2.5 AUTOIMMUNITY IN IPF

An important part of the diagnostic work-up of IPF is to exclude other causes of interstitial lung disease, in particular connective tissue diseases such as, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic sclerosis, myositis and Sjogren's syndrome. In the case of RA, the prevalence of ILD related to RA range from 1- 50% depending on methodology and criteria used [103–105]. While the radiological pattern of ILD in connective tissue diseases (CTD) is predominated by nonspecific interstitial pneumonia pattern (NSIP), studies in patients with RA-ILD suggest that UIP pattern is more prevalent, occurring in between 40-60 % of patients with RA-ILD [106, 107], and is indicative for worse prognosis [108, 109]. Interestingly, besides the prevalence of UIP in RA, RA-ILD have several common characteristics with IPF.

These include shared genetic background through mutations in telomere maintenance genes (e.g. *TERT, PARN*) and the surfactant gene SFTPC [110], and most recently and prominently, *MUC5B* [36]. Moreover, RA-ILD shares some phenotypic risk factors including smoking [104, 111], progressive lung fibrosis and predictors for poor prognosis (age, male gender, disease severity measured by DLCO and FVC) [104, 111–113].

Exclusion of CTD are particularly important since the pulmonary manifestations can dominate the clinical picture or even present before joint symptoms appear. [114–116]. Evaluation of signs and symptoms of autoimmune disease and routine testing of serological markers such as antinuclear antibodies (ANA), antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptides (anti-CCP), antineutrophilic cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA) and rheumatoid factor (RF) is recommended to improve diagnostic accuracy [2]. Over the years, a number of different nomenclatures for ILD-patients with unclear systemic inflammatory disease which do not meet all criteria for being diagnosed as a CTD has been proposed. Currently, this group of patients are suggested of having interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features (IPAF). Patients with IPAF must fulfill at least one criteria across three diagnostic domains: serologic (autoantibodies), clinical (specific extrapulmonary symptoms) and morphological (radiology and/or histopathology) [117].

Despite UIP's existence in systemic autoimmune disease, a UIP pattern alone is not a part of the criteria for a diagnosis of IPAF due to its lower prevalence in CTDs in contrast to NSIP [118] and thus does not increase the likelihood of having a CTD. Therefore, an IPF/UIP with the presence of autoantibodies does not fulfill the criteria for IPAF and will still be diagnosed and managed as IPF if the patient does not have at least one feature from the other domains.

Presence of autoantibodies in IPF patients without showing evidence of a defined CTD have been described before [119–123], using different set ups and reference values of the clinically utilized serological markers ANA, RF, ACPA and ANCA. Presence of the non-specific autoantibodies ANA and RF has been identified in 1-53% and 6-17% respectively [124], while the more specific antibodies ANCA and anti-CCP has been detected in 0-32% and 1-13%, respectively [122, 124]. Studies on their clinical significance in patients in IPF are inconclusive, although a majority of studies suggests no differences in clinical characteristics and mortality between patients with or without these autoantibodies. Great emphasis is, however, laid on the substantial heterogeneity in study design and the limited number of patients which warrants careful interpretation. Anti-CCP which is the most specific test for RA utilized in the clinic with a specificity of 98-99% [125], measures antibodies against posttranslationally modified citrullinated protein/peptides. Analyses of anti-CCP, their prevalence and clinical significance in IPF has been limited by small patient cohorts and there are few studies on their prognostic importance [119–122].

2.5.1 Citrullination and other posttranslational modifications

A majority of patients with RA are characterized by the presence of antibodies reactive to proteins that have been subjects to various posttranslational modifications [126]. These antibodies include mainly antibodies against citrullinated proteins (ACPA) but also other modifications, termed anti-modified protein antibodies (AMPA). These include, among others, acetylation [127] and carbamylation/homo-citrullination [128]. Recent studies have demonstrated cross-reactivity with ACPAs against acetylated and carbamylated proteins, suggesting a different "flavor" of ACPA reactivity [129, 130]. Autoimmunity and ACPAs are very specific for RA, and studies have shown increased levels of anti-CCP in patients with RA-ILD [131–134].

Citrullination is a posttranslational conversion facilitated by the enzyme peptidyl arginine deiminase (PAD) [135], of the positively charged amino acid arginine into citrulline which has a neutral charge. The shift in electrostatic properties makes them immunogenic in genetically susceptible individuals (HLA-DRB1 shared epitope alleles) in RA and thus targets of ACPA [126]. Citrullinated proteins have been found in BAL and lung tissue in IPF, RA-ILD and RA [136–138].

The anti-CCP test used in the clinic utilizes synthetic cyclic citrullinated peptides as a surrogate for the citrullinated proteins generated *in vivo*. Advances in RA serology techniques have demonstrated that the anti-CCP test does not capture all autoreactivities seen in RA, with multiplex methods enabling detection of multiple ACPA fine-specificities, i.e. the repertoire of reactivity against different modified epitopes on proteins, which can vary among patients [139, 140]. Studies of RA patients with ILD have demonstrated associations between the presence and number of ACPA specificities with the parenchymal abnormalities seen in ILD [141, 142].

2.6 BIOMARKERS IN IPF

Biomarkers are defined as "characteristics that are objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention" [143]. Several multidimensional prognostic models that integrate clinical, physiological and radiological variables have been validated in IPF, such as the composite physiological index (CPI) [144] and Gender-Age-Physiology (GAP) index [145]. These composite values are more accurate in predicting baseline and longitudinal mortality than individual physiological variables, while allowing stratification of patients. However, more powerful measures that are able to predict future behavior (decline in lung function or acute exacerbations) or treatment response are needed [146]. Molecular biomarkers provide insights into the underlying pathobiology of disease and allows identification of potential disease phenotypes in patients who may have different biological mechanisms causing their disease. Integrating these dynamic parameters with biological signatures of disease is needed to provide accurate measures on disease progression. stratification of disease and guide treatment. In addition, utilization of biomarkers could result in more efficient clinical trials, with biomarkers used as surrogate endpoints. Currently, no biomarkers have been implemented in the clinic, and studies are limited by small sample sizes, differences in analytical and statistical methodology and usage of different outcomes which yields inconsistent results that are difficult to generalize. Nevertheless, considerable progress has been made in detecting and proposing biomarkers with the ability to distinguish patients from healthy, reflect disease severity and predict disease progression [147, 148]. Apart from molecular biomarkers, i.e. soluble factors or cell types found in serum or plasma, biomarkers may also be genetic, with encouraging results generated in studies of genetic signatures predicting the risk of developing disease [149, 150], or image-based, using radiological procedures to predict prognosis or patients with increased risk of developing IPF [151–153].

Given the different pathological pathways and active cell types involved in IPF, the most promising molecular biomarkers are related to alveolar epithelial cell dysfunction, extracellular matrix remodeling and fibroproliferation and immune dysregulation [147]. Serum levels of markers of epithelial cell dysfunction, surfactant protein A (SP-A), D (SP-D) are elevated in ILD and IPF, and have been shown to be important predictors for outcome in IPF across different cohorts [154–159].

Similarly, Krebs von den Lungen 6 (KL-6), expressed on alveolar epithelial type 2 cells and released during cell proliferation, activation or injury, stimulates fibroblast migration, proliferation and survival and has been shown to be elevated in IPF and associated with acute exacerbations and mortality [159–162]. Biomarkers related to ECM remodeling, and the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) family of proteins in particular, has long been implicated in IPF pathogenesis and studied extensively. Metalloproteinases are a collection of proteases responsible for the remodeling of ECM through breakdown of matrix components [163]. Further, these proteins can promote epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, i.e. a process where epithelial cells acquire molecular features associated with mesenchymal cells with enhanced abilities to produce ECM components, recruit profibrotic mediators and promote abnormal wound healing. MMP7 is one of the most studied biomarkers in IPF and has been linked to differential outcomes. MMP7 holds the largest promise as a viable diagnostic and prognostic biomarker in IPF [164, 165, 159, 166–168]. CXCL13, a chemokine responsible for B-cell migration and activation in inflammatory lesions, is found elevated in blood and lung tissue in IPF [169], is associated with increased risk of progression in IPF, but also in other groups of ILD such as CTD-ILD, chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis and unclassifiable ILD[169–171]. Several other cytokines, interleukins and immune related mediators have been found in IPF and in other progressive fibrosing ILD [50].

The multitude of pathways involved in IPF highlights the complexity but perhaps also the unlikeliness of finding a single biomarker specific enough to IPF that also predicts disease behavior. A "group-signature" approach to biomarkers in IPF is likely to be more logical. Recent studies using proteomic approaches have highlighted the multitude of ongoing processes, with simultaneous activity of proteins related to immune regulation and activation, inflammation and remodeling [172–174].

3 RESEARCH AIMS

The overarching purpose of this thesis is to increase our understanding of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) both in a clinical and biological context. By using the Swedish IPF registry and biobank, we have approached different aspects of the disease where there is a need for further research and where we can contribute by reinforcing accumulating evidence that have been found in other IPF cohorts and generate hypotheses for further studies.

The specific aims of the studies were to:

- Determine if clinical characteristics differ between males and females with IPF
- Provide a comprehensive overview of patients diagnosed with IPF in Sweden and evaluate measures of disease severity, treatment and potential patient phenotypes
- Identify biomarkers associated with remodeling, inflammation and chemotaxis in a novel *ex vivo* model and evaluate these findings in IPF
- Identify autoimmunity with specific focus on citrullinated antigens and other posttranslational modifications and their potential implications in IPF

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

This section summarizes the data sources, biological material and methods used for the different analyses. More detailed descriptions of the methodologies can be found in the corresponding papers.

4.1 ETHICAL APPROVALS AND CONSIDERATIONS

The Swedish IPF-registry and its associated biobank are approved by Stockholm's Regional Ethical Committee (RefNo. 2014/1202-31/4). The use of data and samples from the biobank for the projects described in this thesis have been approved in a separate application (RefNo. 2018/1449-31/1).

In order to be included in the registry, the patient must read and sign an informed consent. Patients are informed that only relevant data concerning their care is collected and that their consent can be withdrawn at any time without explanation or it affecting future management and care. An inclusion in the registry does not mean any additional test or visit. However, if patients donate samples to the biobank they might experience mild pain when drawing blood, a consequence inherent to every blood test.

The registry is based on a web-based platform only accessed on computers approved centrally by the registry coordinator. Patients' social security number is used to register the patient in the registry, but absent at data extraction where patients are pseudonymized and their social security number replaced by a patient-ID number.

4.2 STUDY SUBJECTS, STUDY DESIGN AND ANALYTICAL METHODS

4.2.1 The Swedish IPF registry

The Swedish IPF registry is a nationwide registry launched in 2014 that enrolls patients with a diagnosis of IPF. The registry collects comprehensive data from more than 20 respiratory medicine units across the country. In order to be eligible for inclusion in the registry, the patient is required to have a confirmed diagnosis of IPF in accordance with the international and national guidelines [2, 16] by a specialist in respiratory medicine. Patients diagnosed with IPF before 2014 are also included. No other exclusion criteria for inclusion are considered, but the patient have to understand oral and written Swedish. The registry collects diagnostic and longitudinal follow-up patient data which is registered manually from medical records by nurses and/or physicians at each site. In 2016, a biobank was connected where blood, plasma and serum from two hospitals are collected at different time points. Biobank samples are drawn from patients, aliquoted and stored in -70°C within two hours of sampling. Table 1 provides an overview of study recruitment from the IPF registry and baseline characteristics in respective paper.

Table 1. Overview of study cohorts enrolled in respective paper

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
Number of patients	348	662	38	120
Age (median, range)	72.0 (46–88)	72.7 (68.0–78.0)	73.8 ± 7.83 ª	75 (70-80)
Male/female, n (%)	250 (72) / 98 (28)	490 (74) / 172 (26)	29 (76) / 9 (24)	83 (69) / 37 (31)
Smoking history				
- Never smokers (n, %)	103 (30)	177 (27)	8 (21)	28 (23)
- Ex-smokers (n, %)	222 (64)	405 (61)	29 (76)	89 (74)
- Current smokers (n, %)	12 (3)	24 (4)	1 (3)	3 (3)
- Missing data (n, %)	11 (3)	56 (8)	-	-
	70.2 ± 15.6 ^a	71 (61–85) ^b	80.8 ± 20.2 ^a	77.5 (66-89) ^b
FVC%	(N= 287)	(N= 507)	(N= 38)	(N= 114)
EEV/.9/	76.1 ± 16.6 ^a	78 (66–90) ^b	81.2 ± 17.9 ^a	80 (68-92) ^b
	(N= 307)	(N= 540)	(N= 38)	(N= 114)
	46.2 ± 13.9 ^a	47 (37–56) ^b	50.4 ± 11.8 ^a	47 (39-57) ^b
DLCO%	(N= 221)	(N= 394)	(N= 38)	(N= 112)
	63.9 ± 12.0 ^a	66 (57–74) ^b	64.3 ± 11.2 ^a	64 (55-72) ^b
	(N= 193)	(N= 361)	(N= 38)	(N= 113)
GAP-stage (n,%)				
1	NA	157 (41)	21 (55)	43 (36)
2		196 (51)	17 (45)	58 (48)
3		31 (8)	0 (0)	18 (15)
Missing data		-	-	1 (1)

^a = Mean±SD; ^b = Median (Q1-Q3); **FVC%**:forced vital capacity,% predicted; **FEV**₁%: forced expiratory volume in 1 s,% predicted; **DLCO%**: diffusing capacity of carbon monoxide,% predicted; **TLC%**: total lung capacity,% predicted; **GAP:** gender-age-physiology stage for IPF

Paper I - A cross-sectional analysis of data accumulated at time of inclusion in the Swedish IPF registry between September 2014 and December 2017 was performed. Data on demographics, comorbidities, lung function, 6-minute walking test (6MWT) and quality of life (QoL). The latter was evaluated with the health status questionnaire K-BILD, which comprises 15 items across three domains: psychological, breathlessness and activities and chest symptoms, with domain and total points ranges from 0-100, with 100 representing best status. Data was extracted and analyzed from a cohort comprising 348 patients.

Paper II – This study included all patients enrolled in the registry from September 2014 to April 2020 (n=662). In the longitudinal analyses of survival, we decided to calculate survival both from diagnosis and inclusion. As a result, the registry includes both "prevalent" and "incident" cases (defined as patients included in the registry <6 months from diagnosis). Also, patients needed to have a minimum follow up of at least 6 months. The number of patients fulfilling these criteria was 540, while survival from time of inclusion was based on data from 480 patients. Patients were followed until death or transplantation, while patients who were still alive were censored at the last registered date of follow up visit. Variables extracted from the registry database encompassed demographics, basis for diagnosis, exposures, comorbidities, lung function, 6MWT, KBILD and outcome status. Spirometry and 6MWT performed within 6 months prior to or after registry inclusion were considered as baseline values. Patients were considered treated with antifibrotics if they received treatment for 6 months or more, while untreated patients were patients who either remained untreated throughout the observation period or received antifibrotic treatment for less than 6 months. Two established severity and risk prediction measures were calculated, presented and verified; the Gender-Age-Physiology (GAP) index, developed by Ley et. al [145], is a model that provides an average risk of mortality in IPF patients by assigning points depending on patients' sex, age and lung function (FVC and DLCO). The composite physiological index (CPI) developed by Wells et. al [144], is a score derived to account for the morphological

extent of fibrosis seen on HRCT while considering the potential confounding effects of emphysema. CPI was calculated using the following formula: $CPI = 91.0 - (0.65 \times DLco\%) - (0.53 \times FVC\%) + (0.34 \times FEV1\%)$.

The cluster analysis required complete data in every individual covering 15 variables in addition to a minimum follow up time of 6 months. Applying these criteria restricted the cohort to 164 patients.

Paper III - To study the interaction between fibroblasts and extracellular matrix (ECM), we used an *ex vivo* model developed by the collaborating group, where fibroblasts were cultured within scaffolds, i.e. lung tissue slices with maintained ECM structure and composition but devoid of cells. Refer to [175, 176] for detailed description of the model. Lung tissue from distal localizations was obtained from four patients with IPF and four healthy donor lungs. Primary lung fibroblasts from one healthy donor were cultured on each type (healthy and IPF) of scaffold for up to nine days, with the medium used in the model changed at day 1, 3 and 6. The proteomic analysis was performed on the cell culture medium collected at day 1 and day 9.

IPF patients were selected based on the availability of baseline and follow up samples with associated clinical data performed maximum 6 months before or after sampling. This to enable linkage and correlations of protein concentrations to established measures of disease severity and progression. Serum samples from 38 patients from the registry enrolled from Karolinska University Hospital were analyzed. Baseline samples were collected at a median time of 2 months (IQR: 12 months) from diagnosis, while follow samples were collected at different time points with a median time of 16 months (IQR: 9.5 months) from baseline. Data on demographics, lung function and treatment status were extracted from the registry. Patients were considered to have progressive disease if a decline in FVC% of at least 10% and/or decline in DLCO% of 15% or more was observed at the time of follow up sample. In addition to this, we further evaluated disease progression over an observation period of 36 months from baseline, considering all available lung function tests performed.

Single serum samples from a control cohort including 77 healthy subjects of whom 37 were never smokers and 40 current smokers, were obtained from the COpd and Smoking from an oMIC perspective (COSMIC) cohort [177].

Paper IV – This project included serum samples and data from patients and individuals from three separate cohorts: 1) 120 patients diagnosed with IPF between 2007-2020 and enrolled in the registry; 2) 120 sex- and smoking matched healthy controls from the Epidemiological Investigations for Rheumatoid arthritis (EIRA) cohort [178] and 3) 104 patients with rheumatoid arthritis from the LUng investigation in newly diagnosed Rheumatoid Arthritis (LURA) cohort [179]. Serum from the IPF patients were collected at a median time of 11 months (IQR: 1-28 months) from diagnosis with no exclusion of patients with regards to clinical characteristics, comorbidities or treatment.

Demographic data, lung function, 6MWT, results from autoantibody tests performed as part of the diagnostic work and outcome status was extracted from the IPF registry. Clinical characteristics from the LURA cohort included demographics and lung function, while only information on age and smoking was available in controls from EIRA. Follow up data was not available in the LURA and EIRA cohort, whereas IPF patients were followed from serum collection to death or transplantation or were censored at Jan 1st 2022. Moreover, analyses of progression-free survival, with progression defined as death, transplantation or decline of at least 10% in FVC%, and/or a decline of 15% or more in DLCO% over a time period of 36 months (+3months) from time of serum collection were also performed. Furthermore, as the Swedish IPF-registry enrolls patients regardless of diagnosis date and the biobank was started in 2016, we performed the same analyses on a cohort of patients (n=67) where serum was collected <15 months from diagnosis. This in order to minimize potential biases that may arise when including prevalent cases which may lead to underestimation of survival.

Analysis of proteins in serum (Paper III)

The cell culture medium from the *ex-vivo* model and the serum samples from IPF patients and controls were analysed through a panel of 92 proteins provided by Olink Proteomics AB (Uppsala, Sweden). Proteins were measured and quantified via multiplex proximity extension assay (PEA) as described in previous work [180]. The PEA is a dual recognition immunoassay which uses antibody pairs labelled with unique DNA-oligonucleotides functioning as probes that bind to each other upon the pairwise antibody-binding to the target proteins. Binding brings the antibodies into proximity and the oligonucleotides on each antibody hybridize and function as a template for extension and quantified through polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Results are reported as normalized protein expression (NPX) value which is an arbitrary unit on a log2-transformed scale, where a high value corresponds to high protein concentrations. Proteins with a detectability lower than 67% (i.e. >33% of samples below limit of detection per protein) were excluded.

Analysis of autoantibodies in serum (Paper IV)

Detection of ACPA and AMPA fine specificities against modified peptide antigens in serum from healthy controls, IPF patients and patients with early RA were performed using a custom multiplex peptide microarray platform based on the Immuno solid-phase Allergen chip (ISAC) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, ImmunoDiagnostics, Uppsala, Sweden) [139].

Peptides in both citrullinated and native form were printed in spots onto a glass slide. Serum samples, diluted 1:40 in buffer (Phadia, Uppsala, Sweden), were incubated on the slides and bound autoantibodies were detected using a Cy3 conjugated goat anti-human IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Newmarket, UK). Fluorescence-intensity was measured and converted to arbitrary units (Au/ml) based on an internal calibrator present in each chip. Cut-off values for the different ACPA and AMPA reactivities were set at the 98th percentile of the reactivities observed in the healthy controls' serum samples.

4.2.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

A number of statistical analyses were used with selection based on the hypothesis tests and underlying statistical requirements of the datasets. Comparisons of continuous variables between two groups were performed using Student's t-test (normal distributed data), Mann-Whitney U test (skewed distribution) or analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences or associations in categorical variables were analyzed using Chi-square test (or Fischer's exact test as appropriate).

In **paper I**, differences in comorbidities stratified by gender and smoking status were analyzed and presented with odds ratios (OR; i.e. odds for having certain comorbidity compared with the odds of not having comorbidity). Multivariate statistical analysis was used to evaluate the correlation between quality of life, with KBILD total score as the dependent variable and clinical variables as independent variables. In **paper II**, agreements in the classification of "mild" disease severity defined by GAP stage 1 with different levels of composite measures of severity (CPI) and measures of lung function, was calculated and compared using Cohen's kappa coefficient. Kappa values are categorized as: $\leq 0 = \text{poor}$; 0.01-0.20 = slight; 0.21-0.40 = fair; 0.41-0.60 = moderate; 0.61-0.80 = substantial and 0.81-1.0 = excellent/perfect. Kaplan-Meier curves and log-rank tests were estimated to evaluate median survival times and comparisons between groups. Univariate and multivariate Cox analysis was used to discern the significance of clinical variables, treatment, the severity classifications and clusters' associations with survival.

The number of clusters was evaluated using Ward hierarchical cluster analysis and factor analysis. Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure and Bartlett test of sphericity were derived to check for appropriateness. KMO calculates the proportion of variance among variables and tells if there is enough variance to compute a factor analysis. The Bartlett test evaluates if there are relationships between variables and the data is enough to be compressed in a factor analysis. A KMO value of >0.6 and p<0.05 in Bartlett test means that data are likely to factor well and a factor analysis is suitable. K-means cluster analysis was performed to classify clusters using the results from the hierarchical clustering. A stepwise discriminant analysis was used to identify variables that distinguishes each cluster. In order to validate the robustness of the clusters, the leave-one-out method was performed to ensure the stability and precision of the cluster model.

In **paper III** where a large number of proteins were analyzed and compared to controls in the *ex-vivo* model and in serum from patients with IPF, multiple hypothesis testing was performed using Sidak's adjustment for the two-way ANOVA in the experimental part. In the clinical part, Benjamini-Hochberg procedure controlling for a false discovery rate (FDR) of 5% was utilized. Further, given that a clear age discrepancy was evident between IPF patients and controls, with IPF patients being older, the one-way ANOVA performed was adjusted for age.

In **paper IV**, survival time estimates were calculated from time of serum collection to transplant, death or censoring at Jan 1st 2022. Progression-free survival was defined as time from serum collection to death or transplant or a decline of at least 10% in FVC% and/or a decline of at least 15% in DLco% over a time period of 36 months (+3months).

Statistical analyses were performed using the statistical softwares Wizard Pro (version 1.9.22 (240), Evan Miller), SPSS 25.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY USA), STATA 13.1 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA), SAS (SAS system for Windows 9.4, SAS Institute INC., Cary, NC, USA), R (R Core Team, 2020, version 3.6.3) and Graphpad Prism (version 9). Results were considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 I. GENDER DIFFERENCES AT PRESENTATION OF IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS IN SWEDEN

Knowledge on gender related differences was limited when we initiated these studies. The male predominance in IPF was well established and studies investigating new prognostic tools such as the multidimensional GAP-index had shown that males had an increased mortality compared to females [145]. However, the underlying causes or contributors to these differences remain unclear. Further, the prevalence of comorbidities in IPF patients had not been studied in Sweden.

A total number of 348 patients was included, reflecting the typical IPF population summarized in Table 1, paper I. The male predominance was evident (70%), the median age was 72 years and a majority of patients were ex-smokers (63.8%). Arterial hypertension was the most common comorbidity, reported in 33% of patients. Gastroesophageal reflux, other cardiovascular disease (including atrial fibrillation and heart failure) and coronary heart disease followed, with 32.5%, 24.7% and 19.3%, respectively. Quality of life, assessed with King's Brief Interstitial Lung Disease (KBILD) questionnaire demonstrated that patients' perception of quality of life was impaired with a mean (\pm standard deviation) KBILD score of 53.7 \pm 10.7, on a 0-100 scale (poor to good).

Gender-stratified characteristics for the cohort are summarized in Table 2. No differences in age and BMI was observed, but men more frequently reported a history of smoking and a higher tobacco consumption reflected by pack-years ($24.8 \pm 15.1 \text{ vs } 17.8 \pm 13.3$). Additional stratification by smoking status, showed that physiological variables including FVC% and TLC% were lower in males compared to females in general (FVC%: $68.9 \pm 14.4 \text{ vs } 73.0 \pm 17.7, \text{ p}<0.05; \text{TLC}\%: 62.2 \pm 11.8 \text{ vs } 68.6 \pm 11.3, \text{ p}<0.05$) and in ex-smokers (FVC%: $68.7 \pm 12.7 \text{ vs } 75.8 \pm 16.3, \text{ p}<0.01; \text{TLC}\%: 62.0 \pm 11.7 \text{ vs } 71.3 \pm 11.0, \text{ p}<0.001$), where a lower DLCO% ($43.8 \pm 13.3 \text{ vs } 49.3 \pm 13.3, \text{ p}<0.05$) was observed among males as well. KBILD, its total score and three domains covering psychological, breathlessness and activity and chest symptoms were similar between the genders with the exception in never smoking individuals, where the domain covering chest symptoms was lower in females compared to males ($71.4 \pm 21.4 \text{ vs } 60.6 \pm 20.4, \text{ p}<0.05$).

	Male	Female
IPF-patients (N, % in total)	250 (71.8)	98 (28.1)
Age (Median, range)	72 (46–88)	72 (56–84)
BMI (M±SD)	27.0 ± 3.74	27.3 ± 5.18
Smoking status		
Never smoker (N, % in gender)	64 (25.6)	39 (39.8)
Ex-smoker (N, % in gender)	169 (67.6)*	53 (54.1)
Smoker (N, % in gender)	7 (2.8)	5 (5.1)
Missing info (N, % in gender)	10 (4.0)	1 (1.0)
Packyear in ex-smokers (M±SD)	24.8 ± 15.1*	17.8 ± 13.3

Table 2. Gender-stratified characteristics of the cohort

N number(s); BMI body mass index; *p < 0.05, male vs. female

Evaluation of comorbidities showed, overall, that coronary heart disease (OR: 3.48 (95% CI: 1.59-7.58)) and other cardiovascular diseases (such as atrial fibrillation and heart failure) (OR: 3.84 (1.89-7.80)), where more prevalent among males. Meanwhile, females were more likely to have thyroid diseases (OR: 0.36 (0.15-0.87)), asthma (OR: 0.18 (0.06-0.54)) and osteoporosis (OR: 0.10 (0.01-0.65)). Further separation of the group by smoking status revealed that only coronary heart disease remained consistently more prevalent in males vs females (never smoking males vs females: OR: 10.6 (1.34-84.5).

We further set out to investigate potential differences in factors that impact the quality of life by multivariate analysis with KBILD total score as dependent variable and age, BMI, gender, FVC%, FEV₁% and number of comorbidities as independent variables. FVC% was the only variable that impacted the KBILD total score in the entire cohort (beta: 0.225, 95% CI: 0.060-0.389, p=0.008) and in males (beta: 0.246, 95% CI: 0.034-0.458, p=0.023), with higher FVC% associated with increased KBILD.

Discussion of paper I

Studies of gender differences with regard to the clinical presentation of the disease are lacking. We aimed to characterize and investigate potential gender differences across several clinical characteristics. We were able to confirm the male predominance [83, 84, 181–183], and provided new information on increased burden of cardiovascular disease in males and also differences in other comorbidities, such as asthma and thyroid diseases in females. The differences likely reflect the imbalance in prevalence observed in the general population, but they may also be an important prognostic factor that require further studies in larger populations.

We showed that males had lower lung volumes, particularly in ex-smokers. Despite this, quality of life did not differ between genders in general, although never smoking females reported worse on the KBILD domain of chest symptoms. A possible explanation could be that the perception of the disease is different due to other causes, but our study was unable to provide any evidence for this.

Although our study was only cross-sectional, more recent studies on larger cohorts in other countries have been able to confirm our results of increased prevalence of coronary heart disease among males and thyroid diseases in females, along with lower FVC% in males at presentation [184, 185]. In general, research into different aspects of gender differences in IPF has expanded and highlighted other important perspectives on the management of patients with IPF as well. Recent studies have shown that male and females perceive their disease differently with females being more affected psychosocially than males [185]. Evaluation of HRCT features have demonstrated that honeycombing is more prevalent in males [184, 185], while analysis of differences in outcomes in more than 1200 IPF patients have shown that males have a 40% higher risk of death or lung transplantation compared to females [18]. However, information on comorbidities and their contribution to the survival disadvantage were not studied. Other important perspectives, such as gender bias in the diagnosis of IPF have also been brought to attention. Males are more likely to be diagnosed with IPF compared to females after adjustments for age, smoking, exposures and autoantibodies [186]. This was especially apparent in males with HRCT patterns other than definite UIP. Our understanding of the impact of gender is increasing and greater consideration should be taken in both basic and clinical research as well as in the management of patients.

The study constituted, for the first time, a compilation of large number of registry variables. Hence, it posed an opportunity to get an insight in to the challenges, such as missing data limiting the statistical power and awareness of interpreting data from small groups. In addition, it also displayed the inconsistencies in registration between centers which is inherent to registries covering several hospitals. Nevertheless, the study generated important information that were confirmed in other studies and gave us a broader picture of the opportunities and areas of improvement in the registry, which laid ground for the subsequent studies presented.

5.2 II. BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS AND SURVIVAL OF PATIENTS OF IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS: A LONGITUDINAL ANALYSIS OF THE SWEDISH IPF REGISTRY

Several registries have been initiated around the world in recent years, collecting a plethora of information from thousands of patients which provide us with important knowledge on the clinical course and management of IPF. In this study, we set out to provide a comprehensive overview of the patient population in Sweden, including treatment with antifibrotics, disease severity classifications and potential phenotypes with differences in mortality.

A total of 662 patients had been enrolled in the registry between September 2014 and April 2020. Enrolled patients reflected in large parts what is established in IPF with a majority being males, ex-smokers, with a median age of 72 years (IQR: 67-77) (Table 1, paper II). Diagnoses were decided based on clinical and radiological information in 88.7%, while approximately 10% of patients had undergone surgical biopsy (thoracoscopic or open lung biopsy). Diagnosis after a multidisciplinary conference was reported in 41.5% of patients. Classification by GAP-stage was feasible in 384 patients and showed that half of patients (51%) belonged to GAP-stage 1, 40.9% to GAP-stage 2 and 8.1% as GAP-stage 3. Prevalence of comorbidities were in line with our previous study, with hypertension (35.6%), acid reflux (31.6%), other cardiovascular disease (20.2%), coronary heart disease (19.8%) and diabetes (15.4%) being the most frequent ones. Multimorbidity (\geq 1 comorbidity) was reported in more than 40% of patients at baseline. During the observation period, 195 patients had died and 23 had undergone lung transplantation (33% in total). The year one, two, three, four and five cumulative mortality rates from diagnosis (n=540) was 7%, 16%, 30%, 39% and 48%, respectively (Figure 1).


Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier analysis for survival in IPF-patients registered in the Swedish IPFregistry

Approximately two thirds (64%) of patients were followed for at least 6 months from diagnosis (n=540) had received anti-fibrotic therapy. The distribution of treatment assignment was similar, with 33.9% receiving pirfenidone, 26.3% nintedanib, followed by a small group of patients (4.1%) who had switched treatment. Treated patients were slightly younger at diagnosis, had higher CPI and lower DLCO% compared to untreated patients (Table 4, paper III). Stratification by treatment revealed no differences between the groups, including demographics, lung function and composite measures as GAP and CPI. Treated patients lived longer than untreated patients both in the whole cohort (Figure 2A) (log rank p=0.037) and in patients with GAP-stage ≥ 2 (Figure 2B) (log rank p=0.034). Multivariate Cox analysis adjusted for age, gender, BMI, BMI, smoking status, FVC% and DLCO%, showed that this prolonged survival remained significant in patients taking antifibrotic treatment (hazard ratio: 1.797, 95% CI 1.173-2.753, p=0.007).



Figure 2A-B. A) Kaplan-Meier analysis for survival in IPF-patients by antifibrotic treatment use; **B)** survival in IPF-patients with GAP-stage ≥ 2 by antifibrotic treatment use. **Red** line indicates treated patients; **Black** line indicates untreated patients.

We further investigated the agreement of individual lung function measures including FVC%, DLCO%, TLC% and CPI, with the GAP stage 1 classification which has been regarded as a "mild" disease. GAP stage 1 had a good agreement with CPI \leq 45 (kappa value (k)=0.62), a moderate agreement with DLCO \geq 55% (k=0.58), FVC \geq 75% (k=0.50) and TLC \geq 65% (k=0.47). With this "new" classification of mild disease for each measure we evaluated their ability to distinguish differences in mortality. Patients with GAP stage 1, CPI \leq 45, DLCO \geq 55%, FVC \geq 75% and TLC \geq 65%, was predictive of better survival as opposed to patients with moderate to severe disease in univariate and multivariate Cox model adjusted for age, gender, BMI, smoking and antifibrotic treatment (Table 5, paper II).

By integrating registry variables, we sought to explore and identify distinct patient phenotypes. Three clusters were identified with differences in clinical characteristics and mortality. Table 6, paper II and Figure 3a-d provides a summary of each cluster. Cluster 1 (n=55) comprised of mostly older, male patients (87.3%) with heart diseases (96.4%, includes hypertension, other cardiovascular diseases and coronary heart disease) and moderate to severe disease. Cluster 2 (n=70) were the cluster with most females (52.9%) and with mild disease severity. Cluster 3 (n=39) were younger patients with moderate to severe disease.

The factor analysis discriminated two factors with clusters distributed differently (Figure 3e). Function 1 included mainly disease severity measures and function 2 mostly variables related to comorbidities. Kaplan-Meier analysis showed that patients in cluster 1 had worst survival compared to patients belonging to cluster 2 (log rank p<0.001) and cluster 3 (log-rank p=0.036) (Figure 3f). Meanwhile, patients in cluster 2 survived longer than patients in cluster 3 (log-rank p=0.017). Investigating survival in clusters adjusting for antifibrotic treatment in multivariable Cox analysis demonstrated that cluster 1 (HR: 3.154, 95% CI 1.855–5.364, p<0.001) and cluster 2 (HR: 0.291, 95% CI 0.160–0.528, p<0.001) were predictors of survival.



Figure 3a-f. Patient characteristics in respective cluster and survival. A-D) Distribution and differences in clinical characteristics between clusters. E) Differences between clusters by factor analysis. F) Kaplan-Meier analysis for survival by clusters

Discussion of paper II

Patient registries offer opportunities to provide data that may complement those generated in clinical trials. Furthermore, results from registry studies can be validated and confirmed in other registries, although such comparisons should be done with caution due to differences in patient populations and methodologies. Register data can also be used to achieve new insights on disease behavior. The patient cohort presented in this study was similar to cohorts presented in other registries with regards to clinical characteristics, comorbidity burden and survival [83, 84, 187, 188]. In addition, our results reinforce established knowledge by validating the prognostic importance of individual physiological variables and composite measures such as GAP and CPI.

As clinical trials only study treatment effects over a restricted time period, registries can provide insights in pharmacological treatment patterns and their long-term efficacy. Our analyses of treatment effects on mortality, albeit relatively superficial on a methodological plane, was able to contribute to the expanding number of studies based on real world data and meta-analyses demonstrating the beneficial effects of antifibrotic treatment on survival [83, 85–87, 189–191]. Prospective, randomized controlled trials remain the gold standard to evaluate treatment effects as the design is superior in accounting for biases and minimizes the effects of unmeasured variables.

We further set out to leverage the range of variables and long-term data to explore potential patient phenotypes. Three clusters were identified with different patient characteristics, disease severity, comorbidity profiles and survival. Moreover, the cluster analysis highlighted the complexity of disease severity as individual variables that were non-significant in univariate Cox analysis were important predictive factors in the cluster analysis. Cluster analysis in IPF is a concept that has gained increasing attention, and our data is one of the first to explore this. Subsequent studies exploring clusters have included a number of variables including clinical, laboratory and radiological, which may confine comparisons between studies. Notwithstanding, results have demonstrated how e.g. comorbidities [192], gender and disease severity [193] are able to distinguish patients with IPF. Common for the cluster analyses published to date, ours included, is the limited number of patients available for analysis, which requires further studies in larger patient numbers or the addition of other cohorts. Altogether, analyses of phenotypes offer a new approach which may increase our knowledge of the heterogeneity of the disease. Through improvements of patient recruitment, for example through collaborations, we may advance into more personalized patient management in the future.

The opportunity to corroborate and refute findings in large cohorts collected in registries is certainly an advantage. However, the real-world environment in which patient registries operate, constitute a challenge in terms of data collection and analysis. This is truly evident in our study both with respect to the number of data points and the number of individuals available in respective analyses. This can also be viewed as an opportunity such as variability between hospitals regarding the comprehensiveness of testing or differences in management.

Missing data limits statistical power and becomes an increasing issue as loss or inconsistencies in follow up becomes more apparent. This can be due to worsening of disease or death which may not be registered, or that patients with milder disease may return to the hospitals less frequently. Ensuring the completeness and quality of data requires administrative and economic resources but is vital to secure the reliability of results. Having said that, it is important to remember that registration of data is a time-consuming process performed in the clinic with the everyday commitments health care personnel have. Another limitation is the absence of data on acute exacerbations, which significantly affects mortality

in IPF. Numbers on the incidence in this cohort and knowledge of which patients developed AE would open for more refined analysis on mortality and potential effects of treatment. Current data in the registry on AEs are limited and needs further characterization to discern hospitalizations due to AE or comorbidities.

Taken together, this paper set out to provide an overview of the patient population enrolled in the Swedish IPF-registry. The results strengthened previous observations with regards to clinical characteristics, disease severity, survival and treatment, and provided insight into phenotypes of patients with IPF with unique characteristics and prognosis.

5.3 III. DISTAL LUNG MICROENVIRONMENT TRIGGERS RELEASE OF MEDIATORS RECOGNIZED AS POTENTIAL SYSTEMIC BIOMARKERS FOR IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS

This two-part study explored the proteomic profile in 1) healthy primary fibroblasts repopulated in a novel *ex-vivo* model that recapitulates the compositional and biomechanical properties of the lung tissue and the extracellular matrix (ECM) observed in IPF, and 2) in serum from patients with IPF. The second, clinical part of the study was expanded by exploring proteins' relationship with measures of disease severity and progression.

Fibroblasts seeded in lung matrix ("scaffolds") from healthy individuals, differed from fibroblasts grown in end-stage IPF matrix. The latter demonstrated an altered response by showing increased release of 12 proteins related to either remodeling, inflammation and chemotaxis at two time points, either day 1 or day 9 or both (Table 1, paper III). Matrix metalloproteinase-7 (MMP7) and C-X-C motif chemokine 13 (CXCL13) displayed the largest differences between IPF and controls at day 1. Meanwhile, matrix metalloproteinase-12 (MMP12), galectin-9 (Gal9) and CXCL13 were the only proteins elevated at both day 1 and day 9 in culture. The proteins decorin (DCN) and cluster of differentiation 40 (CD40) were shown to be increased compared to controls at day 9 only. An example of these differences seen in protein concentrations in the ex-vivo model, with specific focus on proteins related to remodeling are presented in Figure 1, paper III.

Age corrected analysis of differences in protein concentrations between IPF patients (n=38) at baseline and controls (n=77) revealed elevated concentrations of 44 proteins (Figure 4). A majority of proteins elevated in IPF (30 out of 44) regulated inflammation and chemotaxis, while remaining proteins were associated to remodeling (7 proteins) or had overlapping functions (remaining 7 proteins). Evaluation of the proteins elevated in the *ex-vivo* model showed that ten out of the twelve proteins were increased in patient serum. Table 3 displays a selection of the top differentially increased proteins found in IPF serum compared to controls together with the significant proteins observed in the *ex-vivo* model.



Figure 4. Levels of circulating proteins in IPF patients versus controls. The difference in relative protein amount (NPX) (x-axis) by log10 of p-value. **Red**: proteins associated with tissue remodeling; **Green**: proteins associated with inflammation/chemotaxis; **Blue**: proteins with overlapping functions.

Protein	NPX-difference	p-value	FDR adjusted p-value
Tissue remodeling			
ADGRG1	0.99	1.22E-05	5.75E-03
MMP12*	0.73	1.68E-04	9.20E-03
HGF	0.66	4.91E-08	2.30E-03
MMP7*	0.59	2.98E-11	1.15E-03
VEGFA	0.54	1.13E-03	1.38E-02
PGF*	0.26	2.07E-04	9.77E-03
Inflammation/Chemotaxis			
LAMP3	1.34	2.47E-07	3.45E-03
MCP-3	1.33	1.01E-11	5.75E-04
CCL19*	1.16	1.03E-07	2.87E-03
CXCL13*	1.00	4.31E-11	1.72E-03
IL8	0.96	2.61E-06	4.60E-03
TNFSF14	0.93	4.84E-05	7.47E-03
TNFRSF9*	0.35	2.90E-03	1.67E-02
CD4*	0.27	7.48E-05	8.05E-03
CD40*	0.26	4.61E-03	1.84E-02
Gal-9*	0.23	1.27E-02	2.36E-02
Overlapping functions			
ARG1	1.30	3.32E-05	6.90E-03
CXCL10	0.60	8.96E-03	2.13E-02
CCL23	0.49	2.27E-04	1.03E-02
ADA	0.48	2.56E-05	6.32E-03
TNFRSF12A	0.33	1.35E-03	1.49E-02
GZMA*	0.31	7.92E-03	2.07E-02

Table 3. Top proteins found increased in IPF serum at baseline and in the *ex vivo* model. Proteins are categorized by biological function.

* indicate proteins elevated in the ex-vivo model; **NPX:** normalized protein expression; **FDR:** false discovery rate

Examination of protein concentrations in follow up samples from IPF patients showed that 24 of the initial 44 proteins found in the baseline samples were persistently increased at follow up. These included among others, the remodeling proteins MMP7, MMP12, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA), the inflammation/chemotaxis related proteins CXCL13, monocyte chemoattractant protein -3 (MCP-3) and lysosomal associated membrane protein 3 (LAMP3). Concentration of 21 proteins were statistically lower in follow-up samples compared to baseline (Table 4, paper III). These included the remodeling proteins epidermal growth factor, fibroblast growth factor-2 and the protein caspase-8 with overlapping function.

Next, we investigated the elevated proteins' associations to disease severity. Several proteins demonstrated correlations with at least one measure of disease severity (FVC%, TLC%, DLCO% and CPI) at both baseline and follow up. Concentrations of MMP7 were negatively correlated with FVC% (Spearman's ρ : -0.51, p=0.006; ρ : -0.52, p=0.001) and TLC% (ρ : -0.47, p=0.003; ρ : -0.39, p=0.017) at baseline and follow up respectively, and showed a positive correlation with CPI (i.e. increased fibrosis) at follow up (ρ : -0.51, p=0.006). HGF was negatively correlated with FVC% (ρ : -0.48, p=0.003) TLC% (ρ : -0.37, p=0.022) and CPI (ρ : 0.40, p=0.013) at baseline, but only TLC% (ρ : -0.35, p=0.036) at follow up. Inflammatory/chemotaxis proteins with promising correlations included MCP-3 with its negative correlations to FVC% (ρ : -0.53, p=0.0006; ρ : -0.49, p=0.002) and TLC% (ρ : -0.50, p=0.001; ρ : -0.46, p=0.004) at baseline and follow up, in addition to a positive correlation with CPI (ρ : 0.42, p=0.01) at follow up.

The consecutive serum sampling and associated clinical data enabled analysis of associations between changes in protein concentrations and changes in lung function. For instance, increasing MMP7 concentration at follow up correlated with decline in FVC% (Figure 5A) and DLCO% (ρ : -0.35, p=0.035). Increasing levels of VEGFA and HGF correlated with decreased FVC% and DLCO%, respectively (Figure 5B-C). Meanwhile, while no correlations between concentrations of the protein tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 12A (TNFRSF12A) and disease severity variables were observed neither at baseline and follow up, increasing levels of TNFRSF12A showed a strong negative correlation with declining DLCO% (Figure 5D).



Figure 5A-D. Correlations between increasing concentrations in proteins MMP7(A), VEGFA(B), HGF(C) and TNFRSF12A and declining FVC% (A and B) and DLCO% (C and D)

Patients who had progressed (n=20) at follow up had higher concentration of interleukin 6 (IL-6, mean difference 0.45, 95% CI of difference 0.03–0.88, p = 0.04), NOS3 (0.51, 95% CI 0.02–1.01, p = 0.03), MMP7 (0.14, 95% CI 0.02–0.25, p = 0.03) and CASP-8 (0.36, 95% CI –0.01–0.73, p = 0.03) in the follow up sample compared to stable patients (n=17). No differences in protein concentrations were observed between the groups in the baseline sample. Comparison of changes in protein concentrations by progression status suggested that progressive patients had increasing concentrations of NOS3, HGF, VEGFA, MMP7 and TNFRSF12A (Table 4).

Protein	Progressive patients (mean difference) (95%CI) (n=20)	Stable patients (mean difference) (95%CI) (n=17)	p-value
NOS3	0.44 (0.002-0.89)	-0.04 (-0.21-0.12)	0.013
HGF	0.14 (-0.04-0.33)	-0.1 (-0.25 -0.05)	0.036
VEGFA	0.08 (-0.07-0.23)	-0.12 (-0.24-(-0.0001)	0.033
MMP7	0.04 (-0.03-0.12)	-0.06 (-0.13-0.005)	0.031
TNFRSF12A	0.15 (0.007-0.30)	-0.19 (-0.35-(-0.04))	0.0008

Table 4. Differences in changes of protein concentrations stratified by progression status

Kaplan-Meier and multivariate Cox analysis of progression over a 36 months time period demonstrated that patients with elevations in MMP7 and TNFRSF12A progressed faster (log rank p=0.0008, HR 63.0, 95% CI 4.36-917.7, p=0.002 and log rank p=0.019, HR 3.33, 95% CI 1.24-8.92, p=0.02, respectively).

An explorative analysis of the potential effects of antifibrotic treatment on protein concentrations showed that patients who were untreated at baseline and initiated treatment during follow up (n=13) had a statistically significant change in 30 proteins as opposed to untreated (n=12) and consistently treated (n=12) patients, where changes in one and 8 proteins were observed, respectively. Finally, decrease in concentrations of remodeling associated proteins EGF, FGF2, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR-2) and proteins related to inflammation tumor necrosis factor superfamily 14 (TNFSF14) and interleukin 6 (IL-6) were seen among patients who initiated treatment (Table 7, paper III).

Discussion of paper III

We performed a proteomic investigation of the interplay between fibroblasts and ECM in tissue derived from healthy individuals and patients with IPF. We demonstrated that ECM from IPF lung altered the response and activation of fibroblasts compared to ECM from healthy lung. Fibroblasts are important players in the production of ECM. Therefore, knowledge on fibroblasts' behavior to the altered structural environment and how it drives pro-fibrotic and inflammatory cellular responses is important in order to elucidate disease mechanisms and develop new treatment targets. Previous studies of fibroblasts' response to IPF ECM have revealed activation of mechanosignalling pathways that propagate the rigidity of the ECM through amplification of pro-fibrotic mechanisms [48, 194, 195]. New experimental models that recapitulate the environment and the processes seen in fibrotic tissue are needed. Validating generated results in peripheral blood as we did in this study, strengthens the potential of the model and knowledge of specific proteins as disease relevant biomarkers.

By utilizing PEA technology, we were able to explore a broad set of proteins associated with remodeling, inflammation and chemotaxis, and provide a picture of the complexity and the ongoing processes and pathways involved in IPF biology. Leveraging the serum samples with clinical data, enabled us to link potential biomarkers to established measures of disease severity and progression. For instance, our results expand the literature on the diagnostic and prognostic utility of MMP7, one of the most described biomarkers in IPF to date [166, 196–199]. The elevated levels both in the *ex vivo* model and in patients' serum in addition to its associations with disease severity and progression confirm MMP7 as one of the more

interesting mediators in this area. Furthermore, the study shed light on other proteins such as TNFRSF12A, which, in the context of IPF, have been insufficiently studied, but found to play a role in other diseases with a fibrotic component [200–202].

Our results also highlight the upregulation and activity of inflammatory pathways. Despite several reports on inflammatory markers in peripheral blood, lung tissue and BAL in IPF [50, 173], the role of inflammation and its importance in the pathogenesis of IPF is controversial. This is motivated by several negative results in clinical trials of anti-inflammatory drugs [27, 28, 203]. Nonetheless, the results presented herein and in previous studies raises important questions into what extent inflammation is a driver of disease and progression and if there are targets and subgroups of patients that may benefit from anti-inflammatory treatment. Prospective studies on larger cohorts are therefore needed in the future.

The number of samples both in the *ex-vivo* model and the clinical part is a limitation which affected the statistical power which is important to have in mind when interpreting the results. The lack of a validation cohort of IPF patients is a limitation and is required to confirm or discard the generalizability of our results. Treatment with antifibrotics among a third (32%) of patients already at study start, may have resulted in an underestimation of protein concentrations. Other factors such as comorbidities or other pharmacological treatments were not considered in the study and may have had an impact. The age difference between IPF patients and controls were adjusted accordingly. Overall, the project shows the capabilities of the registry and the biobank and presents interesting pathways for future investigations in IPF.

5.4 IV. RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS RELATED ANTIBODIES IN IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS

A hallmark of RA is the serological presence of anti-citrullinated protein autoantibodies (ACPA). These autoantibodies target proteins who have been posttranslationally modified in which the amino acid arginine is converted into citrulline. ACPA bind to various citrullinated proteins including tenascin, fibrinogen, filaggrin, vimentin and histone [204–210]. Additionally, reactivity against other posttranslational modifications aside from citrullination such as carbamylation and acetylation by anti-modified protein autoantibodies (AMPA) have been described in RA [128, 211, 212].

We explored a spectrum of anti-modified protein autoantibody (AMPA) reactivities against posttranslational modifications associated with RA in serum from patients with IPF, healthy controls (HC) and patients with RA.

Altogether, 44% of IPF patients, 27% of healthy controls (HC) and 79% of RA patients, tested positive for autoantibodies against the modified peptides. More IPF patients had autoantibodies compared to HC (p=0.005). We identified 8 autoantibodies who differed between IPF and HC with regards to concentration and frequency. These included autoantibodies to the tenascin peptides $Cit_{(2033)}$ -TNC₂₀₂₅₋₂₀₄₀; $Cit_{(2197)}$ -TNC₂₁₇₇₋₂₂₀₀; $Cit_{(2198)}$ -TNC₂₁₇₇₋₂₂₀₀, the fibrinogen peptides $Fib\beta_{36-52}$; $Cit_{(38,42)}$ -Fib α_{36-50} ; $Cit_{(72)}$ -Fib β_{60-74} and the filaggrin peptides Acet-Fil₃₀₇₋₃₂₄, Carb-Fil₃₀₇₋₃₂₄ (Figure 6A-H). Autoantibodies targeting the other modified peptides tested, i.e. histone, LL37 and vimentin were not different between IPF vs HC (Supplementary Table 1, paper IV). In contrast to autoantibodies and reactivity seen in the RA cohort, IPF patients had both a lower frequency of autoantibody positive individuals and lower concentrations. Further, there were no reactivity against autoantigens typical for RA such as vimentin (Supplementary Table 1, paper IV). Presence of autoantibodies in the incident IPF sub-cohort (n=67) was found in 37% (n=25).

We then evaluated ACPA fine specificities, i.e. the number of reactivities in every patient in respective group. We were able to show that there were more individuals with >5 reactivities in IPF patients than HC (12% vs 3%, p=0.003), whereas the presence of high number of reactivities in RA patients were seen in 51% (p<0.0001 vs HC and IPF). We also compared results with tests of anti-CCP performed in the clinic. Forty-one percent (n=31) of patients with negative anti-CCP tests (n=75) showed presence of autoantibodies against at least one of the modified peptides. Similar results were found in the incident cohort where a third (33%, n =16) of the negative anti-CCP test (n=49) showed presence of autoantibodies.

Evaluation whether patients with IPF made up distinct clinical phenotypes based of their reactivity status showed no differences in terms of demographics, lung function, disease severity and comorbidities (Table 2, paper IV). Results remained non-significant after stratification by number of reactivities (Supplementary Table 3, paper IV).



Figure 6A-H. Concentration and frequency of reactivity of autoantibodies against RA associated peptides found significantly increased in serum from IPF patients compared to healthy controls (HC). The horizontal dotted line indicate the cutoff for positivity towards each respective peptide. Pie chart represent the percentage of positivity in each cohort, with cohort size displayed in the middle. A: Cit₍₂₀₃₃₎-TNC₂₀₂₅₋₂₀₄₀, **B:** Cit₍₂₁₉₇₎-TNC₂₁₇₇₋₂₂₀₀, **C:** Cit₍₂₁₉₈₎-TNC₂₁₇₇₋₂₂₀₀, **D:** Fib β_{36-52} , **E:** Cit_(38,42)-Fib α_{36-50} , **F:** Cit₍₇₂₎-Fib β_{60-74} , **G:** Acet-Fil₃₀₇₋₃₂₄, **H:** Carb-Fil₃₀₇₋₃₂₄; *p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0005, ****p < 0.0005

No differences in survival stratified by the presence or absence of autoantibodies or by number of reactivities was observed in the full IPF-cohort (log-rank p=0.13 and log-rank p=0.20, respectively) (Figure 7A-B). Additionally, no differences were seen in time to disease progression, with regards to presence of autoantibodies or number of reactivities (Figure 3A-B, paper IV) (log rank p=0.019 and log rank p=0.33, respectively). Meanwhile, incident IPF patients, with presence of autoantibodies survived longer compared to incident patients with no autoantibodies (log-rank p=0.009) (Figure 7C). Further, when patients were grouped by number of reactivities the results were similar with longer survival in patients with >5 reactivities (log-rank p=0.034). Also, there was a trend towards longer survival also in patients with 1-5 reactivities (log-rank p=0.062) (Figure 7D). Although analysis of time to progression rendered statistically non-significant results, similar trends of beneficial prognosis in patients with presence of autoantibodies were observed (Figure 5A-B, paper IV).



Figure 7A-D. Survival time estimates in the full cohort (A and B) and in the incident (time between diagnosis and serum collection <15 months) sub-cohort (C and D) of IPF patients. Time estimates are calculated from point of serum collection and stratified by presence or absence of antibodies (A and C) and number of reactivities (B and D) against RA-associated peptides in patients with IPF.

Discussion of paper IV

In this study we show how a substantial proportion of patients with IPF display autoantibody reactivity against posttranslational modified peptides that are known to be specific for RA. The prevalence and concentration of autoantibodies targeting specific epitopes of the peptides tenascin, fibrinogen and filaggrin was higher than in sex- and smoking matched healthy controls. In addition, almost 10% of patients with IPF presented with multiple reactivities (>5 reactivities) as opposed to 3% in HC. As expected, RA-patients demonstrated a comprehensive autoantibody reactivity against citrullinated peptides with elevated concentrations compared to IPF patients. Finally, explorative analyses in a cohort of incident patients suggested that presence and number of circulating autoantibodies may be associated with longer survival.

The post-translational modifications and the detection of ACPAs and AMPAs play important roles in the development and identification of RA [213]. ACPAs are prevalent in patients with RA-ILD and their presence and number of specificities have shown associations with ILD severity [104, 132, 133, 141]. The wide array of modified peptides tested in our study such as tenascin, may not be captured with the anti-CCP test and may thus explain both the substantially higher prevalence of ACPA reactivity reported (44%) and the presence of autoantibodies in anti-CCP negative patients. In light of the similarities observed between IPF and RA-ILD and the significance of reactivity against these posttranslational modifications in RA, our results raise questions on if the lung damage observed in these patients are in fact caused by AMPA, but different from the processes that we know of from RA? This due to the differences seen in reactivity pattern in the RA group. Perhaps this is a different entity of IPF? Further studies are certainly needed to address these questions. A limitation with our study is that we do not know if patients with presence of autoantibodies developed a connective tissue disease later on. Another limitation is the age difference between IPF and HC, as age may influence reactivity. Nonetheless, this study is to our knowledge the first to explore simultaneous ACPA and AMPA reactivity in IPF.

Collectively, our study shows how pathways associated with the adaptive immune system and autoimmunity are active in a proportion of IPF patients with potential prognostic implications. Future large prospective studies are needed to identify genetic, environmental and other factors resulting in the generation of ACPA and AMPA and their prognostic importance in IPF.

6 CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis, I have aimed, with the help of registry and biological data, to contribute to the complex and expanding puzzle of IPF. We have investigated clinical aspects of IPF, how it presents and develops and explored biological pathways through multiplex methods which may extend our knowledge on IPF's pathogenesis and heterogeneity.

From a methodological perspective, the studies highlight the possibilities and challenges when working with real-life data from registries. Knowledge of areas of improvement and opportunities is essential in order to place the registry in a valuable position to explore and address important research questions.

The main conclusions and the take-home-messages from this thesis are:

- There is a gender imbalance in lung function and in comorbidities, with males presenting with lower lung function and a higher burden of cardiovascular diseases and coronary heart disease in particular
- IPF patients enrolled in the Swedish IPF-registry have similar characteristics to patients enrolled in other IPF-registries with regards to demographics, clinical characteristics, comorbidities and survival
- We reinforce the literature on the importance of predictors of IPF progression such as GAP, CPI and measures of lung function, and demonstrate the agreement for mild impairment using GAP stage 1 was good to fair with other proposed criteria
- Patients treated with antifibrotics live longer
- We identified three clusters of IPF-patients distinguished by disease severity and cardiovascular diseases with differences in survival
- The pathological remodeling and architecture of the lung-ECM seen in IPF affects fibroblasts' behaviour by stimulating the release of mediators associated with remodeling, inflammation and chemotaxis such as MMP7 and CXCL13
- We confirmed protein signatures found elevated in a novel *ex-vivo* model in serum from patients with IPF, thereby validating the model as a promising pre-clinical tool to study the cell-ECM crosstalk in IPF
- Patients with IPF show elevated levels of multiple proteins associated with remodeling, inflammation and chemotaxis such as MMP7, MMP12, CXCL13, HGF, IL-6 and MCP-3
- Elevated levels of, among others, MMP7 and TNFRSF12A were associated with lung function decline and progression
- Compared to healthy controls, we found presence of AMPAs in a significant proportion of IPF patients, suggesting a potential role of the adaptive immune system and autoimmunity in a subgroup of patients with potential effects on mortality
- The pattern of autoreactivity against posttranslational modification of proteins in IPF patients was different from RA-patients, with fewer patients that had autoantibodies, less citrulline specific reactivity and lower concentrations of autoantibodies

7 POINTS OF PERSPECTIVE

These studies provide a glimpse of the opportunities and challenges when conducting research on registry data. Registries can help fill in the gaps from clinical trials and through the collection of clinical variables and biological samples at multiple time points, we have a unique opportunity to generate substantial quantity of data across several dimensions.

Registry-based research may be most useful when all data are complete. However, inherent to the nature of registries is missing data, which limits statistical power, analytical capabilities and the interpretation of results. Building a multicenter registry and biobank infrastructure within the framework of real-life routine care takes time and requires considerable resources. A plan to complete missing data will be executed in a near future in parallel to the regular data registrations. Furthermore, with Sweden in the forefront of registry-based data sources, linkage of registries could potentially be used to fill missing gaps in the registry. With several registries in Europe and the rest of the world collecting data and biological samples on IPF but also other ILDs, there is a big opportunity to increase power and capabilities of approaching genotypes, disease phenotypes and evaluate treatments. Collaboration is crucial to maximize the value of registries to the benefit of patients.

Gender differences in patients with IPF has gained more attention in recent years with studies demonstrating its implications in diagnosis, treatment patterns and outcomes. Attention to the role of these differences in ILD research will result in more accurate diagnostic and outcome assessments. Our cross-sectional study on gender differences in paper I, the cluster analysis in paper II and the investigations of serum samples performed in paper III and IV would be interesting to combine and advance in this regard, investigating potential gender differences and phenotypes across clinical and biological dimensions.

The results from the project exploring autoantibodies in patients with IPF raises interesting questions on the role of autoantigens in IPF pathology. With findings of autoantibodies in peripheral blood from serum, a natural extension would be to explore the generation of autoantibodies locally within the lung through analysis of BAL from patients with IPF. This in order to find out if a certain subset of patients with IPF have a humoral dysregulation were the fibrogenesis is antibody-mediated, which ultimately might mean the possibility of managing patients with targeted therapies available today.

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work is truly a joint effort and would not have been possible without teamwork. Through this journey, I have had the fortune to get to know, cooperate, receive support and learn from so many people who have made me grow not only as a researcher, but as a person.

To my main supervisor, Magnus Sköld. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD in your group and your advices throughout this journey. You have given me the freedom to explore new things and find my own path. When things took a turn and I doubted myself, you took me on and made me feel secure, which meant a lot to me. Thank you for your positive attitude and creating opportunities for me to develop as a researcher. Working with you has been very rewarding and a very good learning experience.

To my co-supervisors, Aase Hensvold, Jesper Magnusson and Linda Elowsson. Thank you for your detailed thoughts and inputs during the work with the projects. Thank you for your patience with me, your enthusiasm in the research and your guidance in the world of academia.

To my colleague Jing Gao. Thank you for all the rewarding discussions regarding data, statistics and research in general regardless of what time of day. Thank you for all support with statistical analyses and your patience with me.

Anna Löfdahl and Vijay Joshua. Working with you has been a pleasure. Thank you for sharing your knowledge with me and your help and contributions to the projects.

Thank you to all my co-authors for contributing to our work and for all great discussions and feedback.

Lisa Carlson. I cannot imagine how boring my workdays would have been without you! Thank you for always supporting me, your patience with my, at times, terrible jokes and dumb questions, and all the laughs and discussions. Working with you has been so fun. You are the best and good luck with your PhD-studies!

Giovanni Ferrara. Thank you for believing in me from the start and pushing me. Thank you for making this possible.

Eva-Marie Karlsson. Thank you for all the laughs, help with practicalities and reminders of what I need to do and when I am supposed to stay at home because of holidays.

Thank you to everyone at the lung clinic, especially nurses Heléne, Margitha, Lise-Lotte and Henrik for your contributions to the registry and happy spirits. Thank you to all the dedicated nurses and doctors around the country who contribute to the registry and who makes this possible. Anna, Kärstin and Lina, thank you for taking care of me when I paid you a visit!

My sincerest gratitude to all participants in our studies who have been willing to partake in the registry and contribute to science.

Gunilla Westergren-Thorsson and Linda Elowsson. Thank you for the opportunities to come and visit you in Lund and Ystad. Getting to know you and the rest of the research group and get a glimpse of your research and the enthusiasm is inspiring. I have had a lot of fun too!

Peter, you saw something in me and gave me the opportunity to embark on this journey. Thank you for all discussions on science, academia and life in general. Your passion for science is contagious and inspiring.

Thank you to my dear friends in "Apo6"! I will try to be more available from now on.

To my friend Georgios, thank you for your support and belief in me throughout the years.

Tack till alla kollegor och vänner på Karolinska. Ni har förgyllt mina dagar!

Inga ord kan beskriva den tacksamhet jag känner för min mamma Evangelia, pappa Nikolaos och mina systrar Margarita och Maria. Tack för att ni alltid trott på mig och givit mig trygghet. Ni är min urkraft. Farmor, mormor, farfar och morfar – jag har burit er med mig varje dag. Pappou, hoppas du är okej med att det blev det här i stället för juridiken!

Kära Elin. Tack för ditt stöd och all kärlek i livet. Tack för ditt tålamod och din förståelse för att forskningen tar lite mer plats än vad den kanske borde. Du, Boe och Fiona har varit den välbehövliga distans till forskningen jag behövt. Älskar dig och er!

This research was supported by grants from the Swedish Heart-Lung foundation, Paul and Ragna Nyberg foundation, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital and investigator- initiated grants from Boehringer Ingelheim and Roche. Thank you.

9 REFERENCES

1. Travis WD, Costabel U, Hansell DM, King TE, Lynch DA, Nicholson AG, et al. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: Update of the international multidisciplinary classification of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;188:733–48.

2. Raghu G, Remy-Jardin M, Myers JL, Richeldi L, Ryerson CJ, Lederer DJ, et al. Diagnosis of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. An Official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT Clinical Practice Guideline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;198:e44–68.

3. Taskar VS, Coultas DB. Is idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis an environmental disease? Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2006;3:293–8.

4. Collard HR, Ryerson CJ, Corte TJ, Jenkins G, Kondoh Y, Lederer DJ, et al. Acute Exacerbation of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. An International Working Group Report. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194:265–75.

5. King TE, Bradford WZ, Castro-Bernardini S, Fagan EA, Glaspole I, Glassberg MK, et al. A phase 3 trial of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:2083–92.

6. Richeldi L, du Bois RM, Raghu G, Azuma A, Brown KK, Costabel U, et al. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:2071–82.

7. Hutchinson J, Fogarty A, Hubbard R, McKeever T. Global incidence and mortality of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a systematic review. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:795–806.

8. Richeldi L, Rubin AS, Avdeev S, Udwadia ZF, Xu ZJ. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in BRIC countries: the cases of Brazil, Russia, India, and China. BMC Med. 2015;13:237.

9. Ferrara G, Arnheim-Dahlström L, Bartley K, Janson C, Kirchgässler K-U, Levine A, et al. Epidemiology of Pulmonary Fibrosis: A Cohort Study Using Healthcare Data in Sweden. Pulm Ther. 2019;5:55–68.

 Diamantopoulos A, Maher TM, Schoof N, Esser D, LeReun C. Influence of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Progression on Healthcare Resource Use. PharmacoEconomics - Open.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s41669-018-0085-0.

11. Kreuter M, Ehlers-Tenenbaum S, Palmowski K, Bruhwyler J, Oltmanns U, Muley T, et al. Impact of Comorbidities on Mortality in Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. PloS One. 2016;11:e0151425.

12. Raghu G, Amatto VC, Behr J, Stowasser S. Comorbidities in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients: a systematic literature review. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:1113–30.

13. Hilberg O, Bendstrup E, Løkke A, Ibsen R, Fløe A, Hyldgaard C. Co-morbidity and mortality among patients with interstitial lung diseases: A population-based study. Respirol Carlton Vic. 2018;23:606–12.

14. Kreuter M, Swigris J, Pittrow D, Geier S, Klotsche J, Prasse A, et al. Health related quality of life in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in clinical practice: insights-IPF registry. Respir Res. 2017;18:139.

15. Hyldgaard C, Hilberg O, Bendstrup E. How does comorbidity influence survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis? Respir Med. 2014;108:647–53.

16. Svensk Lungmedicinsk Förening. Vårdprogram för idiopatisk lungfibros. Svensk Lungmedicinsk Förening; 2019.

17. Sauleda J, Núñez B, Sala E, Soriano JB. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Epidemiology, Natural History, Phenotypes. Med Sci Basel Switz. 2018;6:E110.

 Zaman T, Moua T, Vittinghoff E, Ryu JH, Collard HR, Lee JS. Differences in Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes Between Men and Women With Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: A Multicenter Retrospective Cohort Study. Chest. 2020;158:245–51.

19. Ley B, Collard HR, King TE. Clinical course and prediction of survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183:431–40.

20. John B.West, Andrew M. Luks. West's Respiratory Physiology. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer; 2016.

21. LeBleu VS, Macdonald B, Kalluri R. Structure and function of basement membranes. Exp Biol Med Maywood NJ. 2007;232:1121–9.

22. Burgess JK, Harmsen MC. Chronic lung diseases: entangled in extracellular matrix. Eur Respir Rev. 2022;31:210202.

23. Hussell T, Lui S, Jagger C, Morgan D, Brand O. The consequence of matrix dysfunction on lung immunity and the microbiome in COPD. Eur Respir Rev. 2018;27:180032.

24. Whitsett JA, Alenghat T. Respiratory epithelial cells orchestrate pulmonary innate immunity. Nat Immunol. 2015;16:27–35.

25. Wolters PJ, Collard HR, Jones KD. Pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Annu Rev Pathol. 2014;9:157–79.

26. Raghu G, Brown KK, Costabel U, Cottin V, du Bois RM, Lasky JA, et al. Treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis with etanercept: an exploratory, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:948–55.

27. King TE, Albera C, Bradford WZ, Costabel U, Hormel P, Lancaster L, et al. Effect of interferon gamma-1b on survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (INSPIRE): a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2009;374:222–8.

28. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Clinical Research Network, Raghu G, Anstrom KJ, King TE, Lasky JA, Martinez FJ. Prednisone, azathioprine, and N-acetylcysteine for pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:1968–77.

29. Richeldi L, Collard HR, Jones MG. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. The Lancet. 2017;389:1941–52.

30. Armanios MY, Chen JJ-L, Cogan JD, Alder JK, Ingersoll RG, Markin C, et al. Telomerase mutations in families with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2007;356:1317–26.

31. Nogee LM, Dunbar AE, Wert SE, Askin F, Hamvas A, Whitsett JA. A mutation in the surfactant protein C gene associated with familial interstitial lung disease. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:573–9.

32. Mason PJ, Bessler M. The genetics of dyskeratosis congenita. Cancer Genet. 2011;204:635–45.

33. Seibold MA, Wise AL, Speer MC, Steele MP, Brown KK, Loyd JE, et al. A common MUC5B promoter polymorphism and pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:1503–12.

34. Zhang Y, Noth I, Garcia JGN, Kaminski N. A variant in the promoter of MUC5B and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:1576–7.

35. Peljto AL, Zhang Y, Fingerlin TE, Ma S-F, Garcia JGN, Richards TJ, et al. Association between the MUC5B promoter polymorphism and survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. JAMA. 2013;309:2232–9.

36. Juge P-A, Lee JS, Ebstein E, Furukawa H, Dobrinskikh E, Gazal S, et al. MUC5B Promoter Variant and Rheumatoid Arthritis with Interstitial Lung Disease. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:2209–19.

37. Alder JK, Chen JJ-L, Lancaster L, Danoff S, Su S, Cogan JD, et al. Short telomeres are a risk factor for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:13051–6.

38. Cronkhite JT, Xing C, Raghu G, Chin KM, Torres F, Rosenblatt RL, et al. Telomere shortening in familial and sporadic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:729–37.

39. Courtwright AM, El-Chemaly S. Telomeres in Interstitial Lung Disease: The Short and the Long of It. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201808-508CME.

40. Lawson WE, Crossno PF, Polosukhin VV, Roldan J, Cheng D-S, Lane KB, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in alveolar epithelial cells is prominent in IPF: association with altered surfactant protein processing and herpesvirus infection. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2008;294:L1119-1126.

41. Lawson WE, Cheng D-S, Degryse AL, Tanjore H, Polosukhin VV, Xu XC, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress enhances fibrotic remodeling in the lungs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:10562–7.

42. Korfei M, Ruppert C, Mahavadi P, Henneke I, Markart P, Koch M, et al. Epithelial endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in sporadic idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:838–46.

43. Nureki S-I, Tomer Y, Venosa A, Katzen J, Russo SJ, Jamil S, et al. Expression of mutant Sftpc in murine alveolar epithelia drives spontaneous lung fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2018;128:4008–24.

44. Wang Y, Kuan PJ, Xing C, Cronkhite JT, Torres F, Rosenblatt RL, et al. Genetic defects in surfactant protein A2 are associated with pulmonary fibrosis and lung cancer. Am J Hum Genet. 2009;84:52–9.

45. Zhu L, Wang L, Luo X, Zhang Y, Ding Q, Jiang X, et al. Tollip, an intracellular trafficking protein, is a novel modulator of the transforming growth factor- β signaling pathway. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:39653–63.

46. Bueno M, Lai Y-C, Romero Y, Brands J, St Croix CM, Kamga C, et al. PINK1 deficiency impairs mitochondrial homeostasis and promotes lung fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:521–38.

47. Yu G, Tzouvelekis A, Wang R, Herazo-Maya JD, Ibarra GH, Srivastava A, et al. Thyroid hormone inhibits lung fibrosis in mice by improving epithelial mitochondrial function. Nat Med. 2018;24:39–49.

48. Parker MW, Rossi D, Peterson M, Smith K, Sikström K, White ES, et al. Fibrotic extracellular matrix activates a profibrotic positive feedback loop. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:1622–35.

49. Booth AJ, Hadley R, Cornett AM, Dreffs AA, Matthes SA, Tsui JL, et al. Acellular normal and fibrotic human lung matrices as a culture system for in vitro investigation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186:866–76.

50. Heukels P, Moor CC, von der Thüsen JH, Wijsenbeek MS, Kool M. Inflammation and immunity in IPF pathogenesis and treatment. Respir Med. 2019;147:79–91.

51. Bitterman PB, Wewers MD, Rennard SI, Adelberg S, Crystal RG. Modulation of alveolar macrophage-driven fibroblast proliferation by alternative macrophage mediators. J Clin Invest. 1986;77:700–8.

52. Misharin AV, Morales-Nebreda L, Reyfman PA, Cuda CM, Walter JM, McQuattie-Pimentel AC, et al. Monocyte-derived alveolar macrophages drive lung fibrosis and persist in the lung over the life span. J Exp Med. 2017;214:2387–404.

53. Murray LA, Chen Q, Kramer MS, Hesson DP, Argentieri RL, Peng X, et al. TGF-beta driven lung fibrosis is macrophage dependent and blocked by Serum amyloid P. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2011;43:154–62.

54. Allden SJ, Ogger PP, Ghai P, McErlean P, Hewitt R, Toshner R, et al. The Transferrin Receptor CD71 Delineates Functionally Distinct Airway Macrophage Subsets during Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;200:209–19.

55. Fireman E, Vardinon N, Burke M, Spizer S, Levin S, Endler A, et al. Predictive value of response to treatment of T-lymphocyte subpopulations in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 1998;11:706–11.

56. Todd NW, Scheraga RG, Galvin JR, Iacono AT, Britt EJ, Luzina IG, et al. Lymphocyte aggregates persist and accumulate in the lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Inflamm Res. 2013;6:63–70.

57. Marchal-Sommé J, Uzunhan Y, Marchand-Adam S, Valeyre D, Soumelis V, Crestani B, et al. Cutting edge: nonproliferating mature immune cells form a novel type of organized lymphoid structure in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2006;176:5735–9.

58. Nuovo GJ, Hagood JS, Magro CM, Chin N, Kapil R, Davis L, et al. The distribution of immunomodulatory cells in the lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc. 2012;25:416–33.

59. Xue J, Kass DJ, Bon J, Vuga L, Tan J, Csizmadia E, et al. Plasma B lymphocyte stimulator and B cell differentiation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2013;191:2089–95.

60. Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:205–17.

61. Magro CM, Waldman WJ, Knight DA, Allen JN, Nadasdy T, Frambach GE, et al. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis related to endothelial injury and antiendothelial cell antibodies. Hum Immunol. 2006;67:284–97.

62. Dobashi N, Fujita J, Murota M, Ohtsuki Y, Yamadori I, Yoshinouchi T, et al. Elevation of anti-cytokeratin 18 antibody and circulating cytokeratin 18: anti-cytokeratin 18 antibody immune complexes in sera of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Lung. 2000;178:171–9.

63. Kahloon RA, Xue J, Bhargava A, Csizmadia E, Otterbein L, Kass DJ, et al. Patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis with antibodies to heat shock protein 70 have poor prognoses. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:768–75.

64. Taillé C, Grootenboer-Mignot S, Boursier C, Michel L, Debray M-P, Fagart J, et al. Identification of periplakin as a new target for autoreactivity in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183:759–66.

65. Yang Y, Fujita J, Bandoh S, Ohtsuki Y, Yamadori I, Yoshinouchi T, et al. Detection of antivimentin antibody in sera of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and non-specific interstitial pneumonia. Clin Exp Immunol. 2002;128:169–74.

66. American Thoracic Society, European Respiratory Society. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society International Multidisciplinary Consensus Classification of the Idiopathic Interstitial Pneumonias. This joint statement of the American Thoracic Society (ATS), and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) was adopted by the ATS board of directors, June 2001 and by the ERS Executive Committee, June 2001. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;165:277–304.

67. Raghu G, Remy-Jardin M, Richeldi L, Thomson CC, Inoue Y, Johkoh T, et al. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (an Update) and Progressive Pulmonary Fibrosis in Adults: An Official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT Clinical Practice Guideline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;205:e18–47.

68. Hutchinson JP, Fogarty AW, McKeever TM, Hubbard RB. In-Hospital Mortality after Surgical Lung Biopsy for Interstitial Lung Disease in the United States. 2000 to 2011. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193:1161–7.

69. Park JH, Kim DK, Kim DS, Koh Y, Lee S-D, Kim WS, et al. Mortality and risk factors for surgical lung biopsy in patients with idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. Eur J Cardio-Thorac Surg Off J Eur Assoc Cardio-Thorac Surg. 2007;31:1115–9.

70. Plantier L, Cazes A, Dinh-Xuan A-T, Bancal C, Marchand-Adam S, Crestani B. Physiology of the lung in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir Rev Off J Eur Respir Soc. 2018;27.

71. King CS, Nathan SD. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: effects and optimal management of comorbidities. Lancet Respir Med. 2017;5:72–84.

72. Cottin V. Combined pulmonary fibrosis and emphysema: a distinct underrecognised entity. Eur Respir J. 2005;26:586–93.

73. Wollin L, Wex E, Pautsch A, Schnapp G, Hostettler KE, Stowasser S, et al. Mode of action of nintedanib in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2015;45:1434–45.

74. Conte E, Gili E, Fagone E, Fruciano M, Iemmolo M, Vancheri C. Effect of pirfenidone on proliferation, TGF- β -induced myofibroblast differentiation and fibrogenic activity of primary human lung fibroblasts. Eur J Pharm Sci Off J Eur Fed Pharm Sci. 2014;58:13–9.

75. Inomata M, Kamio K, Azuma A, Matsuda K, Kokuho N, Miura Y, et al. Pirfenidone inhibits fibrocyte accumulation in the lungs in bleomycin-induced murine pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res. 2014;15:16.

76. Albera C, Costabel U, Fagan EA, Glassberg MK, Gorina E, Lancaster L, et al. Efficacy of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis with more preserved lung function. Eur Respir J. 2016;48:843–51.

77. Kolb M, Richeldi L, Behr J, Maher TM, Tang W, Stowasser S, et al. Nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and preserved lung volume. Thorax. 2017;72:340–6.

78. Costabel U, Inoue Y, Richeldi L, Collard HR, Tschoepe I, Stowasser S, et al. Efficacy of Nintedanib in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis across Prespecified Subgroups in INPULSIS. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193:178–85.

79. Costabel U, Behr J, Crestani B, Stansen W, Schlenker-Herceg R, Stowasser S, et al. Antiacid therapy in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: insights from the INPULSIS® trials. Respir Res. 2018;19:167.

80. Noble PW, Albera C, Bradford WZ, Costabel U, du Bois RM, Fagan EA, et al. Pirfenidone for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: analysis of pooled data from three multinational phase 3 trials. Eur Respir J. 2016;47:243–53.

81. Collard HR, Richeldi L, Kim DS, Taniguchi H, Tschoepe I, Luisetti M, et al. Acute exacerbations in the INPULSIS trials of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2017;49.

82. Ley B, Swigris J, Day B-M, Stauffer JL, Raimundo K, Chou W, et al. Pirfenidone Reduces Respiratory-related Hospitalizations in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;196:756–61.

83. Jo HE, Glaspole I, Grainge C, Goh N, Hopkins PMA, Moodley Y, et al. Baseline characteristics of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: analysis from the Australian Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Registry. Eur Respir J. 2017;49:1601592.

84. Guenther A, Krauss E, Tello S, Wagner J, Paul B, Kuhn S, et al. The European IPF registry (eurIPFreg): baseline characteristics and survival of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res. 2018;19:141.

85. Zurkova M, Kriegova E, Kolek V, Lostakova V, Sterclova M, Bartos V, et al. Effect of pirfenidone on lung function decline and survival: 5-yr experience from a real-life IPF cohort from the Czech EMPIRE registry. Respir Res. 2019;20:16.

86. Dempsey TM, Sangaralingham LR, Yao X, Sanghavi D, Shah ND, Limper AH. Clinical Effectiveness of Antifibrotic Medications for Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;200:168–74.

87. Behr J, Prasse A, Wirtz H, Koschel D, Pittrow D, Held M, et al. Survival and course of lung function in the presence or absence of antifibrotic treatment in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: long-term results of the INSIGHTS-IPF registry. Eur Respir J. 2020;56:1902279.

88. Lancaster LH, de Andrade JA, Zibrak JD, Padilla ML, Albera C, Nathan SD, et al. Pirfenidone safety and adverse event management in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir Rev Off J Eur Respir Soc. 2017;26.

89. Crestani B, Huggins JT, Kaye M, Costabel U, Glaspole I, Ogura T, et al. Long-term safety and tolerability of nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: results from the open-label extension study, INPULSIS-ON. Lancet Respir Med. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30339-4.

90. Cottin V, Koschel D, Günther A, Albera C, Azuma A, Sköld CM, et al. Long-term safety of pirfenidone: results of the prospective, observational PASSPORT study. ERJ Open Res. 2018;4.

91. Costabel U, Bendstrup E, Cottin V, Dewint P, Egan JJJ, Ferguson J, et al. Pirfenidone in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: expert panel discussion on the management of drug-related adverse events. Adv Ther. 2014;31:375–91.

92. Bendstrup E, Wuyts W, Alfaro T, Chaudhuri N, Cornelissen R, Kreuter M, et al. Nintedanib in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Practical Management Recommendations for Potential Adverse Events. Respir Int Rev Thorac Dis. 2018;:1–12.

93. Pilling D, Gomer RH. The Development of Serum Amyloid P as a Possible Therapeutic. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2328.

94. Andersson-Sjöland A, de Alba CG, Nihlberg K, Becerril C, Ramírez R, Pardo A, et al. Fibrocytes are a potential source of lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2008;40:2129–40.

95. Reilkoff RA, Bucala R, Herzog EL. Fibrocytes: emerging effector cells in chronic inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:427–35.

96. Raghu G, van den Blink B, Hamblin MJ, Brown AW, Golden JA, Ho LA, et al. Effect of Recombinant Human Pentraxin 2 vs Placebo on Change in Forced Vital Capacity in Patients With Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.6129. 97. Richeldi L, Fernández Pérez ER, Costabel U, Albera C, Lederer DJ, Flaherty KR, et al. Pamrevlumab, an anti-connective tissue growth factor therapy, for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (PRAISE): a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8:25–33.

98. Wang Q, Usinger W, Nichols B, Gray J, Xu L, Seeley TW, et al. Cooperative interaction of CTGF and TGF- β in animal models of fibrotic disease. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair. 2011;4:4.

99. Thabut G, Mal H, Castier Y, Groussard O, Brugière O, Marrash-Chahla R, et al. Survival benefit of lung transplantation for patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2003;126:469–75.

100. Dowman LM, McDonald CF, Hill CJ, Lee AL, Barker K, Boote C, et al. The evidence of benefits of exercise training in interstitial lung disease: a randomised controlled trial. Thorax. 2017;72:610–9.

101. Nolan CM, Polgar O, Schofield SJ, Patel S, Barker RE, Walsh JA, et al. Pulmonary Rehabilitation in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis and COPD: A Propensity-Matched Real-World Study. Chest. 2022;161:728–37.

102. Raghu G, Collard HR, Egan JJ, Martinez FJ, Behr J, Brown KK, et al. An official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT statement: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: evidence-based guidelines for diagnosis and management. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183:788–824.

103. Bongartz T, Nannini C, Medina-Velasquez YF, Achenbach SJ, Crowson CS, Ryu JH, et al. Incidence and mortality of interstitial lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62:1583–91.

104. Kelly CA, Saravanan V, Nisar M, Arthanari S, Woodhead FA, Price-Forbes AN, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis-related interstitial lung disease: associations, prognostic factors and physiological and radiological characteristics--a large multicentre UK study. Rheumatology. 2014;53:1676–82.

105. Gabbay E, Tarala R, Will R, Carroll G, Adler B, Cameron D, et al. Interstitial lung disease in recent onset rheumatoid arthritis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;156 2 Pt 1:528–35.

106. Kim EJ, Collard HR, King TE. Rheumatoid arthritis-associated interstitial lung disease: the relevance of histopathologic and radiographic pattern. Chest. 2009;136:1397–405.

107. de Lauretis A, Veeraraghavan S, Renzoni E. Review series: Aspects of interstitial lung disease: connective tissue disease-associated interstitial lung disease: how does it differ from IPF? How should the clinical approach differ? Chron Respir Dis. 2011;8:53–82.

108. Tsuchiya Y, Takayanagi N, Sugiura H, Miyahara Y, Tokunaga D, Kawabata Y, et al. Lung diseases directly associated with rheumatoid arthritis and their relationship to outcome. Eur Respir J. 2011;37:1411–7.

109. Nurmi HM, Purokivi MK, Kärkkäinen MS, Kettunen H-P, Selander TA, Kaarteenaho RL. Variable course of disease of rheumatoid arthritis-associated usual interstitial pneumonia compared to other subtypes. BMC Pulm Med. 2016;16:107.

110. Juge P-A, Borie R, Kannengiesser C, Gazal S, Revy P, Wemeau-Stervinou L, et al. Shared genetic predisposition in rheumatoid arthritis-interstitial lung disease and familial pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2017;49.

111. Assayag D, Lubin M, Lee JS, King TE, Collard HR, Ryerson CJ. Predictors of mortality in rheumatoid arthritis-related interstitial lung disease. Respirol Carlton Vic. 2014;19:493–500.

112. Saag KG, Kolluri S, Koehnke RK, Georgou TA, Rachow JW, Hunninghake GW, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis lung disease. Determinants of radiographic and physiologic abnormalities. Arthritis Rheum. 1996;39:1711–9.

113. Zamora-Legoff JA, Krause ML, Crowson CS, Ryu JH, Matteson EL. Patterns of interstitial lung disease and mortality in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Oxf Engl. 2017;56:344–50.

114. Tzelepis GE, Toya SP, Moutsopoulos HM. Occult connective tissue diseases mimicking idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Eur Respir J. 2008;31:11–20.

115. Kono M, Nakamura Y, Yoshimura K, Enomoto Y, Oyama Y, Hozumi H, et al. Nonspecific interstitial pneumonia preceding diagnosis of collagen vascular disease. Respir Med. 2016;117:40–7.

116. Bernstein EJ, Barr RG, Austin JHM, Kawut SM, Raghu G, Sell JL, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis-associated autoantibodies and subclinical interstitial lung disease: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Thorax. 2016;71:1082–90.

117. Fischer A, Antoniou KM, Brown KK, Cadranel J, Corte TJ, du Bois RM, et al. An official European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society research statement: interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:976–87.

118. Kim EA, Lee KS, Johkoh T, Kim TS, Suh GY, Kwon OJ, et al. Interstitial lung diseases associated with collagen vascular diseases: radiologic and histopathologic findings. Radiogr Rev Publ Radiol Soc N Am Inc. 2002;22 Spec No:S151-165.

119. Lee JS, Kim EJ, Lynch KL, Elicker B, Ryerson CJ, Katsumoto TR, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of circulating autoantibodies in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Med. 2013;107:249–55.

120. Kang BH, Park JK, Roh JH, Song JW, Lee CK, Kim M, et al. Clinical significance of serum autoantibodies in idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. J Korean Med Sci. 2013;28:731–7.

121. Moua T, Maldonado F, Decker PA, Daniels CE, Ryu JH. Frequency and implication of autoimmune serologies in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Mayo Clin Proc. 2014;89:319–26.

122. Ghang B, Lee J, Chan Kwon O, Ahn SM, Oh JS, Hong S, et al. Clinical significance of autoantibody positivity in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Med. 2019;155:43–8.

123. Katsumata M, Hozumi H, Yasui H, Suzuki Y, Kono M, Karayama M, et al. Frequency and clinical relevance of anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibody in idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Respir Med. 2019;154:102–8.

124. Kamiya H, Panlaqui OM. Systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical significance of autoantibodies for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. BMJ Open. 2019;9:e027849.

125. van Gaalen FA, Visser H, Huizinga TWJ. A comparison of the diagnostic accuracy and prognostic value of the first and second anti-cyclic citrullinated peptides (CCP1 and CCP2) autoantibody tests for rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:1510–2.

126. Padyukov L, Seielstad M, Ong RTH, Ding B, Ronnelid J, Seddighzadeh M, et al. A genome-wide association study suggests contrasting associations in ACPA-positive versus ACPA-negative rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70:259–65.

127. Juarez M, Bang H, Hammar F, Reimer U, Dyke B, Sahbudin I, et al. Identification of novel antiacetylated vimentin antibodies in patients with early inflammatory arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:1099–107.

128. Shi J, Knevel R, Suwannalai P, van der Linden MP, Janssen GMC, van Veelen PA, et al. Autoantibodies recognizing carbamylated proteins are present in sera of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and predict joint damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108:17372–7.

129. Grönwall C, Liljefors L, Bang H, Hensvold AH, Hansson M, Mathsson-Alm L, et al. A Comprehensive Evaluation of the Relationship Between Different IgG and IgA Anti-Modified Protein Autoantibodies in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front Immunol. 2021;12:627986.

130. Sahlström P, Hansson M, Steen J, Amara K, Titcombe PJ, Forsström B, et al. Different Hierarchies of Anti-Modified Protein Autoantibody Reactivities in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol Hoboken NJ. 2020;72:1643–57.

131. Alexiou I, Germenis A, Koutroumpas A, Kontogianni A, Theodoridou K, Sakkas LI. Anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide-2 (CCP2) autoantibodies and extra-articular manifestations in Greek patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2008;27:511–3.

132. Doyle TJ, Patel AS, Hatabu H, Nishino M, Wu G, Osorio JC, et al. Detection of Rheumatoid Arthritis-Interstitial Lung Disease Is Enhanced by Serum Biomarkers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:1403–12.

133. Rocha-Muñoz AD, Ponce-Guarneros M, Gamez-Nava JI, Olivas-Flores EM, Mejía M, Juárez-Contreras P, et al. Anti-Cyclic Citrullinated Peptide Antibodies and Severity of Interstitial Lung Disease in Women with Rheumatoid Arthritis. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015:151626.

134. Aubart F, Crestani B, Nicaise-Roland P, Tubach F, Bollet C, Dawidowicz K, et al. High levels of anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide autoantibodies are associated with co-occurrence of pulmonary diseases with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38:979–82.

135. Mowen KA, David M. Unconventional post-translational modifications in immunological signaling. Nat Immunol. 2014;15:512–20.

136. Samara KD, Trachalaki A, Tsitoura E, Koutsopoulos AV, Lagoudaki ED, Lasithiotaki I, et al. Upregulation of citrullination pathway: From Autoimmune to Idiopathic Lung Fibrosis. Respir Res. 2017;18:218.

137. Ytterberg AJ, Joshua V, Reynisdottir G, Tarasova NK, Rutishauser D, Ossipova E, et al. Shared immunological targets in the lungs and joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: identification and validation. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74:1772–7.

138. Bongartz T, Cantaert T, Atkins SR, Harle P, Myers JL, Turesson C, et al. Citrullination in extra-articular manifestations of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Oxf Engl. 2007;46:70–5.

139. Hansson M, Mathsson L, Schlederer T, Israelsson L, Matsson P, Nogueira L, et al. Validation of a multiplex chip-based assay for the detection of autoantibodies against citrullinated peptides. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012;14:R201.

140. Rönnelid J, Hansson M, Mathsson-Alm L, Cornillet M, Reed E, Jakobsson P-J, et al. Anticitrullinated protein/peptide antibody multiplexing defines an extended group of ACPApositive rheumatoid arthritis patients with distinct genetic and environmental determinants. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77:203–11.

141. Giles JT, Danoff SK, Sokolove J, Wagner CA, Winchester R, Pappas DA, et al.
Association of fine specificity and repertoire expansion of anticitrullinated peptide antibodies with rheumatoid arthritis associated interstitial lung disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1487–94.

142. Joshua V, Hensvold AH, Reynisdottir G, Hansson M, Cornillet M, Nogueira L, et al. Association between number and type of different ACPA fine specificities with lung abnormalities in early, untreated rheumatoid arthritis. RMD Open. 2020;6:e001278.

143. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2001;69:89–95.

144. Wells AU, Desai SR, Rubens MB, Goh NSL, Cramer D, Nicholson AG, et al. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a composite physiologic index derived from disease extent observed by computed tomography. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:962–9.

145. Ley B, Ryerson CJ, Vittinghoff E, Ryu JH, Tomassetti S, Lee JS, et al. A multidimensional index and staging system for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Ann Intern Med. 2012;156:684–91.

146. Salisbury ML, Xia M, Zhou Y, Murray S, Tayob N, Brown KK, et al. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Gender-Age-Physiology Index Stage for Predicting Future Lung Function Decline. Chest. 2016;149:491–8.

147. Ley B, Brown KK, Collard HR. Molecular biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2014;307:L681-691.

148. Chiba H, Otsuka M, Takahashi H. Significance of molecular biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: A mini review. Respir Investig. 2018;56:384–91 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resinv.2018.06.001.

149. Herazo-Maya JD, Sun J, Molyneaux PL, Li Q, Villalba JA, Tzouvelekis A, et al. Validation of a 52-gene risk profile for outcome prediction in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: an international, multicentre, cohort study. Lancet Respir Med. 2017;5:857–68.

150. Stuart BD, Lee JS, Kozlitina J, Noth I, Devine MS, Glazer CS, et al. Effect of telomere length on survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: an observational cohort study with independent validation. Lancet Respir Med. 2014;2:557–65.

151. Salisbury ML, Tolle LB, Xia M, Murray S, Tayob N, Nambiar AM, et al. Possible UIP pattern on high-resolution computed tomography is associated with better survival than definite UIP in IPF patients. Respir Med. 2017;131:229–35.

152. Win T, Screaton NJ, Porter JC, Ganeshan B, Maher TM, Fraioli F, et al. Pulmonary 18F-FDG uptake helps refine current risk stratification in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF). Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2018;45:806–15.

153. Justet A, Laurent-Bellue A, Thabut G, Dieudonné A, Debray M-P, Borie R, et al. [18F]FDG PET/CT predicts progression-free survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res. 2017;18:74.

154. Takahashi H, Fujishima T, Koba H, Murakami S, Kurokawa K, Shibuya Y, et al. Serum surfactant proteins A and D as prognostic factors in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and their relationship to disease extent. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;162 3 Pt 1:1109–14.

155. Greene KE, King TE, Kuroki Y, Bucher-Bartelson B, Hunninghake GW, Newman LS, et al. Serum surfactant proteins-A and -D as biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2002;19:439–46.

156. Ishii H, Mukae H, Kadota J, Kaida H, Nagata T, Abe K, et al. High serum concentrations of surfactant protein A in usual interstitial pneumonia compared with non-specific interstitial pneumonia. Thorax. 2003;58:52–7.

157. Barlo NP, van Moorsel CHM, Ruven HJT, Zanen P, van den Bosch JMM, Grutters JC. Surfactant protein-D predicts survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis Off J WASOG. 2009;26:155–61.

158. Kinder BW, Brown KK, McCormack FX, Ix JH, Kervitsky A, Schwarz MI, et al. Serum surfactant protein-A is a strong predictor of early mortality in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest. 2009;135:1557–63.

159. Maher TM, Oballa E, Simpson JK, Porte J, Habgood A, Fahy WA, et al. An epithelial biomarker signature for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: an analysis from the multicentre PROFILE cohort study. Lancet Respir Med. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30430-7.

160. Ishikawa N, Hattori N, Yokoyama A, Kohno N. Utility of KL-6/MUC1 in the clinical management of interstitial lung diseases. Respir Investig. 2012;50:3–13.

161. Hamai K, Iwamoto H, Ishikawa N, Horimasu Y, Masuda T, Miyamoto S, et al. Comparative Study of Circulating MMP-7, CCL18, KL-6, SP-A, and SP-D as Disease Markers of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Dis Markers. 2016;2016:4759040.

162. Okamoto T, Fujii M, Furusawa H, Tsuchiya K, Miyazaki Y, Inase N. The usefulness of KL-6 and SP-D for the diagnosis and management of chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis. Respir Med. 2015;109:1576–81.

163. Craig VJ, Zhang L, Hagood JS, Owen CA. Matrix Metalloproteinases as Therapeutic Targets for Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2015;53:585–600.

164. Rosas IO, Richards TJ, Konishi K, Zhang Y, Gibson K, Lokshin AE, et al. MMP1 and MMP7 as potential peripheral blood biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS Med. 2008;5:e93.

165. Fujishima S, Shiomi T, Yamashita S, Yogo Y, Nakano Y, Inoue T, et al. Production and activation of matrix metalloproteinase 7 (matrilysin 1) in the lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134:1136–42.

166. Tzouvelekis A, Herazo-Maya JD, Slade M, Chu J-H, Deiuliis G, Ryu C, et al. Validation of the prognostic value of MMP-7 in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirol Carlton Vic. 2017;22:486–93.

167. Armstrong HF, Podolanczuk AJ, Barr RG, Oelsner EC, Kawut SM, Hoffman EA, et al. Serum Matrix Metalloproteinase-7, Respiratory Symptoms, and Mortality in Community-Dwelling Adults. MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;196:1311–7.
168. Khan FA, Stewart I, Saini G, Robinson KA, Jenkins RG. A systematic review of blood biomarkers with individual participant data meta-analysis of matrix-metalloproteinase-7 in IPF. Eur Respir J. 2021;:2101612.

169. Vuga LJ, Tedrow JR, Pandit KV, Tan J, Kass DJ, Xue J, et al. C-X-C motif chemokine 13 (CXCL13) is a prognostic biomarker of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;189:966–74.

170. Guo L, Yang Y, Liu F, Jiang C, Yang Y, Pu H, et al. Clinical Research on Prognostic Evaluation of Subjects With IPF by Peripheral Blood Biomarkers, Quantitative Imaging Characteristics and Pulmonary Function Parameters. Arch Bronconeumol. 2020;56:365–72.

171. Alqalyoobi S, Adegunsoye A, Linderholm A, Hrusch C, Cutting C, Ma S-F, et al. Circulating Plasma Biomarkers of Progressive Interstitial Lung Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;201:250–3.

172. O'Dwyer DN, Norman KC, Xia M, Huang Y, Gurczynski SJ, Ashley SL, et al. Erratum: The peripheral blood proteome signature of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis is distinct from normal and is associated with novel immunological processes. Sci Rep. 2017;7:46860.

173. Todd JL, Neely ML, Overton R, Durham K, Gulati M, Huang H, et al. Peripheral blood proteomic profiling of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis biomarkers in the multicentre IPF-PRO Registry. Respir Res. 2019;20:227.

174. Norman KC, O'Dwyer DN, Salisbury ML, DiLillo KM, Lama VN, Xia M, et al. Identification of a unique temporal signature in blood and BAL associated with IPF progression. Sci Rep. 2020;10:12049.

175. Rosmark O, Åhrman E, Müller C, Elowsson Rendin L, Eriksson L, Malmström A, et al. Quantifying extracellular matrix turnover in human lung scaffold cultures. Sci Rep. 2018;8:5409.

176. Elowsson Rendin L, Löfdahl A, Åhrman E, Müller C, Notermans T, Michaliková B, et al. Matrisome Properties of Scaffolds Direct Fibroblasts in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20.

177. Kohler M, Sandberg A, Kjellqvist S, Thomas A, Karimi R, Nyrén S, et al. Gender differences in the bronchoalveolar lavage cell proteome of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013;131:743–51.

178. Klareskog L, Stolt P, Lundberg K, Källberg H, Bengtsson C, Grunewald J, et al. A new model for an etiology of rheumatoid arthritis: smoking may trigger HLA-DR (shared epitope)-restricted immune reactions to autoantigens modified by citrullination. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54:38–46.

179. Reynisdottir G, Karimi R, Joshua V, Olsen H, Hensvold AH, Harju A, et al. Structural Changes and Antibody Enrichment in the Lungs Are Early Features of Anti-Citrullinated

Protein Antibody-Positive Rheumatoid Arthritis: Structural and Immunologic Lung Changes in ACPA-Positive RA. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66:31–9.

180. Assarsson E, Lundberg M, Holmquist G, Björkesten J, Bucht Thorsen S, Ekman D, et al. Homogenous 96-Plex PEA Immunoassay Exhibiting High Sensitivity, Specificity, and Excellent Scalability. PLoS ONE. 2014;9:e95192.

181. Behr J, Kreuter M, Hoeper MM, Wirtz H, Klotsche J, Koschel D, et al. Management of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in clinical practice: the INSIGHTS-IPF registry. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:186–96.

182. Wuyts WA, Dahlqvist C, Slabbynck H, Schlesser M, Gusbin N, Compere C, et al. Baseline clinical characteristics, comorbidities and prescribed medication in a real-world population of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: the PROOF registry. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2018;5:e000331.

183. Snyder L, Neely ML, Hellkamp AS, O'Brien E, de Andrade J, Conoscenti CS, et al. Predictors of death or lung transplant after a diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: insights from the IPF-PRO Registry. Respir Res. 2019;20:105.

184. Sesé L, Nunes H, Cottin V, Israel-Biet D, Crestani B, Guillot-Dudoret S, et al. Gender Differences in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Are Men and Women Equal? Front Med. 2021;8:713698.

185. Cottin V, Gueguen S, Jouneau S, Nunes H, Crestani B, Bonniaud P, et al. Impact of Gender on the Characteristics of Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Included in the RaDiCo-ILD Cohort. Respir Int Rev Thorac Dis. 2022;101:34–45.

186. Assayag D, Morisset J, Johannson KA, Wells AU, Walsh SLF. Patient gender bias on the diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax. 2020;75:407–12.

187. Kaunisto J, Salomaa E-R, Hodgson U, Kaarteenaho R, Kankaanranta H, Koli K, et al. Demographics and survival of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in the FinnishIPF registry. ERJ Open Res. 2019;5.

188. Tran T, Šterclová M, Mogulkoc N, Lewandowska K, Müller V, Hájková M, et al. The European MultiPartner IPF registry (EMPIRE): validating long-term prognostic factors in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res. 2020;21:11.

189. Kelly BT, Thao V, Dempsey TM, Sangaralingham LR, Payne SR, Teague TT, et al. Outcomes for hospitalized patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis treated with antifibrotic medications. BMC Pulm Med. 2021;21:239.

190. Petnak T, Lertjitbanjong P, Thongprayoon C, Moua T. Impact of Antifibrotic Therapy on Mortality and Acute Exacerbation in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Chest. 2021;:S0012-3692(21)01279-4.

191. Zheng Q, Cox IA, Campbell JA, Xia Q, Otahal P, de Graaff B, et al. Mortality and survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. ERJ Open Res. 2022;8:00591–2021.

192. Prior TS, Hoyer N, Hilberg O, Shaker SB, Davidsen JR, Rasmussen F, et al. Clusters of comorbidities in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Med. 2021;185:106490.

193. Aoshima Y, Karayama M, Horiike Y, Mori K, Yasui H, Hozumi H, et al. Cluster analysis-based clinical phenotypes of idiopathic interstitial pneumonias: associations with acute exacerbation and overall survival. BMC Pulm Med. 2021;21:63.

194. Liu F, Lagares D, Choi KM, Stopfer L, Marinković A, Vrbanac V, et al. Mechanosignaling through YAP and TAZ drives fibroblast activation and fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2015;308:L344-357.

195. Berhan A, Harris T, Jaffar J, Jativa F, Langenbach S, Lönnstedt I, et al. Cellular Microenvironment Stiffness Regulates Eicosanoid Production and Signaling Pathways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2020;63:819–30.

196. Bauer Y, White ES, de Bernard S, Cornelisse P, Leconte I, Morganti A, et al. MMP-7 is a predictive biomarker of disease progression in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. ERJ Open Res. 2017;3:00074–2016.

197. Morais A, Beltrão M, Sokhatska O, Costa D, Melo N, Mota P, et al. Serum metalloproteinases 1 and 7 in the diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and other interstitial pneumonias. Respir Med. 2015;109:1063–8.

198. White ES, Xia M, Murray S, Dyal R, Flaherty CM, Flaherty KR, et al. Plasma Surfactant Protein-D, Matrix Metalloproteinase-7, and Osteopontin Index Distinguishes Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis from Other Idiopathic Interstitial Pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194:1242–51.

199. Richards TJ, Kaminski N, Baribaud F, Flavin S, Brodmerkel C, Horowitz D, et al. Peripheral Blood Proteins Predict Mortality in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185:67–76.

200. Gomez IG, Roach AM, Nakagawa N, Amatucci A, Johnson BG, Dunn K, et al. TWEAK-Fn14 Signaling Activates Myofibroblasts to Drive Progression of Fibrotic Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol JASN. 2016;27:3639–52.

201. Novoyatleva T, Schymura Y, Janssen W, Strobl F, Swiercz JM, Patra C, et al. Deletion of Fn14 receptor protects from right heart fibrosis and dysfunction. Basic Res Cardiol. 2013;108:325.

202. Yerra VG, Batchu SN, Kabir G, Advani SL, Liu Y, Siddiqi FS, et al. Empagliflozin Disrupts a Tnfrsf12a-Mediated Feed Forward Loop That Promotes Left Ventricular Hypertrophy. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10557-021-07190-2. 203. Richeldi L, Davies HR, Ferrara G, Franco F. Corticosteroids for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;:CD002880.

204. Girbal-Neuhauser E, Durieux JJ, Arnaud M, Dalbon P, Sebbag M, Vincent C, et al. The epitopes targeted by the rheumatoid arthritis-associated antifilaggrin autoantibodies are posttranslationally generated on various sites of (pro)filaggrin by deimination of arginine residues. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1999;162:585–94.

205. Masson-Bessière C, Sebbag M, Girbal-Neuhauser E, Nogueira L, Vincent C, Senshu T, et al. The major synovial targets of the rheumatoid arthritis-specific antifilaggrin autoantibodies are deiminated forms of the alpha- and beta-chains of fibrin. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2001;166:4177–84.

206. Nielen MMJ, van der Horst AR, van Schaardenburg D, van der Horst-Bruinsma IE, van de Stadt RJ, Aarden L, et al. Antibodies to citrullinated human fibrinogen (ACF) have diagnostic and prognostic value in early arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:1199–204.

207. Sebbag M, Moinard N, Auger I, Clavel C, Arnaud J, Nogueira L, et al. Epitopes of human fibrin recognized by the rheumatoid arthritis-specific autoantibodies to citrullinated proteins. Eur J Immunol. 2006;36:2250–63.

208. Bang H, Egerer K, Gauliard A, Lüthke K, Rudolph PE, Fredenhagen G, et al. Mutation and citrullination modifies vimentin to a novel autoantigen for rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:2503–11.

209. Pratesi F, Dioni I, Tommasi C, Alcaro MC, Paolini I, Barbetti F, et al. Antibodies from patients with rheumatoid arthritis target citrullinated histone 4 contained in neutrophils extracellular traps. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1414–22.

210. Schwenzer A, Jiang X, Mikuls TR, Payne JB, Sayles HR, Quirke A-M, et al. Identification of an immunodominant peptide from citrullinated tenascin-C as a major target for autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:1876–83.

211. Jiang X, Trouw LA, van Wesemael TJ, Shi J, Bengtsson C, Källberg H, et al. Anti-CarP antibodies in two large cohorts of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and their relationship to genetic risk factors, cigarette smoking and other autoantibodies. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1761–8.

212. Figueiredo CP, Bang H, Cobra JF, Englbrecht M, Hueber AJ, Haschka J, et al. Antimodified protein antibody response pattern influences the risk for disease relapse in patients with rheumatoid arthritis tapering disease modifying antirheumatic drugs. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:399–407.

213. Darrah E, Andrade F. Editorial: citrullination, and carbamylation, and malondialdehyde acetaldehyde! Oh my! Entering the forest of autoantigen modifications in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol Hoboken NJ. 2015;67:604–8.